AN ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS OF

<u>Thanaset Senawong</u> for the degree of <u>Doctor of Philosophy</u> in <u>Molecular</u> and <u>Cellular Biology</u> presented on <u>March 3, 2004</u>. Title: <u>Transcriptional</u> <u>Repression Mediated by a Novel Family of C₂H₂ Zinc Finger Proteins.</u>

Redacted for privacy

Abstract approved:_

Mark E. Leid

Two novel and highly related C₂H₂ zinc finger proteins (CTIP1/BCL11A/EVI9 and CTIP2/BCL11B/Rit1) have been implicated in COUP-TF signaling, etiology of myeloid and lymphoid malignancies, and hematopoietic cell development. However, the precise cellular function(s) and the contribution of these proteins to neoplastic processes and hematopoietic cell development remain unknown. The goal of the studies described herein was to elucidate the molecular mechanisms underlying the transcriptional repression mediated by these proteins to understand their biological properties, and ultimately, their cellular function(s).

CTIP proteins repressed transcription of a reporter gene in a TSAinsensitive manner, suggesting that this repression mechanism(s) may not involve TSA-sensitive histone deacetylation catalyzed by member(s) of class I and II HDACs. One possible mechanism is that CTIP proteins may exert TSA-insensitive histone deacetylation catalyzed by TSA-insensitive HDAC(s), such as SIRT1, to repress transcription. In deed, SIRT1 was found to interact with CTIP proteins both *in vitro* and in mammalian cells, and was recruited to the promoter template in a CTIP-dependent manner. The proline-rich regions of CTIP proteins and the sirtuin homology domain of SIRT1 were found to be essential for mediating CTIPs•SIRT1 interactions. Moreover, column chromatography revealed that SIRT1 and CTIP2 were components of a large complex in Jurkat cell nuclear extracts.

Based on the findings that SIRT1 associates with CTIP proteins in mammalian cells, SIRT1 may underlie the transcriptional repression activity of CTIP proteins. The following results support the hypothesis that SIRT1 may underlie the mechanism(s) of CTIP-mediated transcriptional repression. First, CTIP-mediated transcriptional repression was inhibited, at least partially, by nicotinamide, an inhibitor of the NAD⁺-dependent, TSAinsensitive HDACs. Second, the decrease in levels of acetylated histones H3 and/or H4 at the promoter region of a reporter gene was observed upon overexpression of CTIP proteins, and this effect was inhibited, at least partially, by nicotinamide. Third, endogenous SIRT1 was recruited to the promoter template of a reporter gene in mammalian cells upon overexpression of CTIP proteins. Fourth, SIRT1 enhanced the transcriptional repression mediated by CTIP proteins and this enhancement required the catalytic activity of SIRT1. Finally, SIRT1 enhanced the deacetylation of template-associated histones H3 and/or H4 in CTIPtransfected cells.

In summary, results described herein strongly suggest that CTIPmediated transcriptional repression involves the recruitment of SIRT1 to the template, at which the TSA-insensitive, but nicotinamide-sensitive histone deacetylase catalyzes deacetylation of promoter-associated histones H3 and/or H4. These results contribute additional understanding to the molecular mechanisms underlying transcriptional activity of CTIP proteins, which might be helpful for identification and characterization of the target genes under the control of CTIP proteins in cells of hematopoietic system and/or the central nervous system.

Transcriptional Repression Mediated by a Novel Family of C₂H₂ Zinc Finger

Proteins

by

Thanaset Senawong

A Thesis

submitted to

Oregon State University

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Completed March 3, 2004 Commencement June 2004 Doctor of Philosophy thesis of Thanaset Senawong presented on March 3,

<u>2004</u>

APPROVED:

Redacted for privacy

Major Professor, representing Molecular and Cellular Biology

Redacted for privacy

Director of Molecular and Cellular Biology Program

Redacted for privacy

Dean of Graduate School

I understand that my thesis will become part of the permanent collection of Oregon State University Libraries. My signature below authorizes release of my thesis to any reader upon request.

Redacted for privacy

Thanaset Senawong, Author

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude and deep appreciation to Dr. Mark Leid my advisor for his intelligent guidance, valuable advice, helpfulness, understanding, encouragement, and financial support throughout this thesis. I would like to thank members of my graduate committee, Drs. Mark Zabriskie, George Pearson, Walt Ream, and Mark Harmon, for their comments and helpful discussions.

I am really grateful to members of the Leid and Ishmael laboratories for their assistance and support, particularly Valerie Peterson, Acharawan Topark-Ngam, Jane Rogers, Mike Beilstein, David Amparan, Tulley Long, and Lingjuan Zhang for their invaluable assistance and encouragement during the course of my studies. I am also grateful to Dorina Avram for her constructive guidance and encouragement, Dan Nevrivy and Andy Fields for their guidance during my early days in the Leid Laboratory.

I am particularly indebted to the Royal Thai Government for the graduate fellowship.

Finally, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my parents and members of my family for their concern, love, insight, and unconditional support throughout my study.

CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS

Chapter 2 is reproduced with the permission of The American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology and *The journal of Biological Chemistry*. All of the experiments in this chapter were performed by myself in the laboratory of Mark Leid with the following exception: Valerie Peterson performed protein fractionation using column chromatography to characterize the nature of CTIP2 complexes described in Fig. 2.9*B-F*. All remaining authors assisted with data interpretation and/or manuscript preparation.

All of the experiments described in Chapter 3 were performed by myself in the laboratory of Mark Leid. Valerie Peterson assisted in preparation of bacterial GST fusion protein lysates used in GST pulldown experiment.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter1 Introductio	on	1
1.1 A novel family of C ₂ H ₂ zinc finger proteins 1.1.1 Role of CTIP1 and CTIP2 in COUF-TF signa 1.1.2 Role of CTIP1 and CTIP2 in malignent	A novel family of C_2H_2 zinc finger proteins 1.1.1 Role of CTIP1 and CTIP2 in COUF-TF signaling 1.1.2 Role of CTIP1 and CTIP2 in malignant	3 6
	transformation	7
development	development	9
1.2	Mechanisms of transcriptional regulation in eukaryotic cells	12
1.3	Histone deacetylation and transcriptional repression	16
1.4	Histone deacetylases (HDACs)	18
1.5	Research objectives	21
1.6	References	23
Chapter 2 Involvement of the Histone Deacetylase SIRT1 in COUP-TF -interacting Protein 2-mediated Transcriptional Repression		
2.1	Abstract	34
2.2	Introduction	35
2.3	Materials and Methods 2.3.1 Constructs 2.3.2 Antibodies 2.3.3 Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assays 2.3.4 Transformation and reporter 2.3.5 Coimmunoprecipitation 2.3.6 GST pulldown experiment 2.3.7 Column chromatography	40 40 41 43 43 43 44 45

TABLE OF CONTENTS(CONTINUED)

<u>Page</u>

2.4	Results 2.4.1 CTIP2-mediated transcriptional repression is	46
	partially reversed by nicotinamide, an inhibitor of NAD ⁺ -dependent deacetylases	46
	promoter template in mammalian cells	51
	2.4.3 SIRT1 enhances CTIP2-mediated transcriptional repression	53
	2.4.4 CTIP2 interacts directly with SIRT1 <i>in vitro</i>	59
	complex in Jurkat cell nuclear extracts	63
2.5	Discussion	67
2.6	Abbreviations	72
2.7	Acknowledgements	73
2.8	References	73
Chapter 3 BCL11A R Transcripti	ecruits the Histone Deacetylase SIRT1 to Repress	79
3.1	Abstract	80
3.2	Introduction	81
3.3	Materials and Methods 3.3.1 Constructs 3.3.2 Antibodies 3.3.3 Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assays 3.3.4 Transformation and reporter 3.3.5 Coimmunoprecipitation 3.3.6 GST pulldown experiment	83 83 84 85 86 87 87
3.4	Results	88
	3.4.1 BCL11A represses transcription in a nicotinamide- sensitive manner	88

TABLE OF CONTENTS(CONTINUED)

 3.4.2 BCL11A interacts with and recruits SIRT1 to the promoter template 3.4.3 BCL11A interacts directly with SIRT1 <i>in vitro</i> 3.4.4 SIRT1 enhances BCL11A-mediated transcriptional repression 	92 96 99	
3.5 Discussion	103	
3.6 Abbreviations	107	
3.7 Acknowledgements	108	
3.8 References	108	
Chapter 4		
Conclusions	112	
Dibliggraphy		
Dibilography		

<u>Page</u>

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		<u>Page</u>
1.1	Schematic diagram of CTIP1 and CTIP2 amino acid alignment	5
1.2	Sites of post-translational modifications on the histone tails	14
1.3	Histone acetylation and deacetylation regulate transcription	17
2.1	CTIP2-mediated transcriptional repression is partially reversed by nicotinamide, an inhibitor of NAD ⁺ -dependent deacetylases	48
2.2	Nicotinamide-sensitive histone deacetylation underlies CTIP2-mediated transcriptional repression	50
2.3	CTIP2 interacts with and recruits SIRT1 to the promoter template in mammalian cells	52
2.4	CTIP2 interacts with SIRT1 in HEK 293 cells	54
2.5	SIRT1 enhances CTIP2-mediated transcriptional repression	56
2.6	SIRT1 stimulates deacetylation of template-associated histones H3 and/or H4 in CTIP2-transfected cells	58
2.7	The proline-rich region of CTIP2 mediates the interaction with SIRT1 <i>in vitr</i> o	60
2.8	The sirtuin homology domain of SIRT1 mediates the interaction with CTIP2 <i>in vitr</i> o	62
2.9	CTIP2 and SIRT1 are components of a large complex in Jurkat nuclear extracts	64
3.1	BCL11A represses transcription in a nicotinamide -sensitive manner	90
3.2	nicotinamide-sensitive histone deacetylation underlies BCL11A-mediated transcriptional repression	91

LIST OF FIGURES(CONTINUED)

<u>Fig</u>	Figure	
3.3	BCL11A interacts with SIRT1 in HEK 293 cells	93
3.4	BCL11A interacts with Sir2 α in mouse pre-B lymphocytes and recruits SIRT1 to the promoter template in HEK 293 cells	95
3.5	The proline-rich region of BCL11A mediates the interaction with SIRT1 <i>in vitr</i> o	97
3.6	The sirtuin homology domain of SIRT1 mediates the interaction with BCL11A <i>in vitr</i> o	98
3.7	SIRT1 enhances BCL11A-mediated transcriptional repression	100
3.8	SIRT1 stimulates deacetylation of template-associated histones H3 and/or H4 in BCL11A-transfected cells	102

Transcriptional Repression Mediated by a Novel Family of C₂H₂ Zinc Finger Proteins

Chapter 1

Introduction

There are a number of similar but distinct zinc-binding motifs, such as C₂H₂ zinc fingers, C₂C₂ zinc-binding motifs (nuclear hormone receptors, GAL4, GATA-1, and TFIIS), C₂CH zinc-binding motifs (nucleocapsid, MetRS, and PKC CRD), RING finger (C₂C₂ and C₂CH), and LIM domain (C₂C₂ and C₂CH), found in several families of zinc-binding proteins (Klug and Schwabe, 1995). Some of these zinc-binding motifs are known to direct sequence-specific DNA binding, reinforcing the idea that zinc is ideally suited to folding small DNA-binding domains (DBDs). Among these zincbinding motifs, the C_2H_2 zinc finger is the most prevalent protein motif in mammalian cells and defines the largest family of sequence-specific DNAbinding proteins (Lander et al., 2001; Tupler et al., 2001). The term zinc finger is used to describe a diverse set of protein motifs that have in common the property of binding zinc ions in order to stabilize the structure of a small, autonomously folded protein domain. The C2H2 zinc finger motif is characterized by conserved cysteines, histidines, and hydrophobic residues,

which stabilize the three dimensional structure consisting of a two-stranded antiparallel β -sheet and α -helix surrounding a central zinc ion (Wolfe et al., 2000). The proteins that contain C₂H₂ zinc finger not only use this domain for protein-DNA interactions but also for protein-protein and protein-RNA interactions (Mackay and Crossley, 1998; Shastry, 1996). Zinc finger proteins bind DNA with sufficient specificity and affinity to function independently (i.e., TFIIIA (Shastry, 1996) and NRSF/REST (Schoenherr and Anderson, 1995)), or can work cooperatively with other DNA binding proteins (i.e., Sp1 proteins (Lania et al., 1997)).

Besides the zinc finger motifs, C_2H_2 zinc finger proteins also contain certain other sequence motifs that define subgroups and may provide insights into the functions of the members of this large family of zinc finger proteins. The best characterized other sequence motifs commonly found in these zinc finger proteins include the poxvirus and zinc finger (POZ) domain (Bardwell and Treisman, 1994), which is also known as the BTB domain (Broad-Complex, <u>T</u>ramtrack, and <u>B</u>ric-a-brac), the Kruppel-associated box (KRAB) (Bellefroid et al., 1991; Losson, 1997), and the SCAN domain (Williams et al., 1995). The POZ domain is an evolutionary conserved protein-protein interaction domain found at the amino-terminal end of some C_2H_2 -type zinc finger transcription factors and in some actin binding proteins (Albagli et al., 1995). As a transcriptional repression module, the POZ domain interacts with Sin3A, SMRT (silencing mediator for retinoid and

thyroid hormone receptors), and NCoR (nuclear receptor corepressor) (Grignani et al., 1998; Hong et al., 1997; Lin et al., 1998). The KRAB domain is a conserved amino acid sequence motif found at the aminoterminal end of proteins that contain multiple C₂H₂ zinc fingers at their carboxy termini (Bellefroid et al., 1991). The KRAB domain functions to repress transcription by recruiting a co-repressor KAP-1 (Schultz et al., 2001). The KAP-1 protein can bind to the heterochromatin protein 1 (HP1), which may then nucleate local heterochromatin formation, resulting in gene silencing. The SCAN domain is a conserved leucine-rich region (LeR) found in some zinc finger transcription factors. The name for this domain was derived from the first letters of the names of four proteins initially found to contain this domain (SRE-ZBP, CTfin51, AW-1 (ZNF174), and Number 18 cDNA or ZnF20) (Williams et al., 1995). The SCAN domain is capable of mediating homo- and heterodimerization between specific members of the SCAN domain family of zinc finger transcription factors (Schumacher et al., 2000).

1.1 A novel family of C₂H₂ zinc finger proteins

Recently, two novel and highly related C_2H_2 zinc finger proteins that lack the above characterized motifs were isolated and identified as chicken ovalbumin upstream promoter transcription factor (COUP-TF)-interacting proteins 1 and 2 (mouse CTIP1 and CTIP2 respectively) (Avram et al., 2000). CTIP1 protein is comprised of 776 amino acids with 4 zinc finger motifs, whereas CTIP2 contains 813 amino acid residues with 7 zinc finger motifs. These novel zinc finger proteins share 61% identity in their peptide sequences, and the zinc finger domains are 95% identical (see Fig. 1.1).

CTIP1 was subsequently and independently identified as EV19 (ecotropic viral integration site 9) by a proviral tagging strategy (Nakamura et al., 2000). Later, the human homolog of CTIP1 was isolated and identified as BCL11A (B Cell Leukemia 11A) due to its direct involvement in B-cell malignancy with t (2; 14)(p13; q32.3) chromosomal translocation (Satterwhite et al., 2001). The human CTIP2 was also named BCL11B due to its homology to BCL11A, although no evidence for its involvement in Bcell malignancy has been reported. Contrary to its name, BCL11B was not found to be expressed at detectable levels by Northern blot in any B-cell lines examined (Satterwhite et al., 2001), but preferentially expressed in normal T-lymphocytes (Bernard et al., 2001) and in malignant T-cell lines (Satterwhite et al., 2001). CTIP2 is also known as Rit1 (Radiation-induced tumor suppressor gene 1), which was identified as a potential tumor suppressor protein involved in γ -ray-induced mouse thymic lymphomas (Wakabayashi et al., 2003a). The human loci of CTIP1 and CTIP2 are located on chromosome 2p13 and 14q32.1, respectively (Satterwhite et al., 2001).



Figure 1.1. Schematic diagram of CTIP1 and CTIP2 amino acid alignment. The percentage of identity between each region of CTIP1 and CTIP2 is indicated. The overall characteristics of each domain are indicated. Zinc finger motifs are represented by black ovals.

<u>1.1.1 Role of CTIP1 and CTIP2 in COUP-TF signaling</u>

CTIP1 and CTIP2 were originally isolated as proteins that interacted with chicken ovalbumin upstream promoter transcription factors (COUP-TFs) (Avram et al., 2000). COUP-TFs are some of the most characterized orphan receptors of the steroid/thyroid hormone receptor superfamily and play important roles in the regulation of neurogenesis, organogenesis, and cellular differentiation during embryonic development (reviewed in (Pereira et al., 2000). Generally, COUP-TF proteins function as transcriptional repressors, and may utilize several mechanisms to repress transcription (Tsai and Tsai, 1997), however, there is growing evidence that COUP-TFs can function as transcriptional activators (Lin et al., 2000; Murray and Edgar, 2001).

Both CTIP1 and CTIP2 enhance COUP-TFII-mediated transcriptional repression in transfected cells (Avram et al., 2000), suggesting a role for these proteins in COUP-TF signaling pathway(s). CTIP1 and CTIP2 are co-expressed with at least one COUP-TF family member in several regions of the developing and adult mouse brain, suggesting that the interaction between the two families of protein may be functionally significant. However, COUP-TF family members are not expressed in cells of the immuno/hematopoietic system that express CTIP1 (B cells, dendritic cells) and CTIP2 (T cells, NK cells) at high levels (Leid et

al., manuscript in revision). This suggests two non-mutually exclusive possibilities: (1) CTIPs may work with other nuclear receptors that we have not yet identified and/or (2) CTIPs may work independently of nuclear receptors. Subsequent studies revealed that both CTIP1 and CTIP2 bound directly and specifically to a GC-rich sequence binding site, 5'-GGCCGGAGG-3' (upper strand) (Avram et al., 2002). Moreover, both CTIPs were found to repress transcription of a reporter gene harboring this binding site in its promoter region in the absence of over-expressed COUP-TF proteins, suggesting that CTIP1 and CTIP2 may regulate transcription independently of COUP-TF proteins in some cell types and/or promoter contexts. Interestingly, both CTIP1/BCL11A and CTIP2/BCL11B repress transcription of a reporter gene independently of trichostatin A (TSA)sensitive histone deacetylation (Avram et al., 2000; Avram et al., 2002), suggesting that this repression pathway may be different from that utilized by several other transcriptional repressors (Struhl, 1998).

1.1.2 Role of CTIP1 and CTIP2 in malignant transformation

Malignant transformation of B cells can occur at several steps of lymphocyte development from early B cell progenitors to mature B cells. There are three important recombination processes of the immunoglobulin

(IG) genes in normal B cells (Dyer and Oscier, 2002). Somatic recombination of the dispersed IG gene segments is firstly required to produce a functional IG gene. Secondly, somatic hypermutation (SHM) is required to produce antibodies with high affinity for a particular (or specific) antigen. Finally, class switch recombination (CSR) occurs shortly after SHM, which involves transposition of the completed VDJ gene to downstream constant region (C_H) segments. CSR occurs between highly repetitive switch regions, resulting in antibody molecules with different effector functions. All three recombination processes involve the introduction of double-stranded DNA breaks (Goossens et al., 1998), suggesting that errors in all three processes may contribute to the pathogenesis of B cell malignancies in various ways, but principally through the generation of chromosomal translocations (Goossens et al., 1998; Kuppers and Dalla-Favera, 2001).

Human BCL11A was isolated through its involvement in rare chromosomal translocation, t (2; 14)(p13; q32.3) in three cases of chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) and one case of immunocytoma that progressed to leukemic phase (Satterwhite et al., 2001). The consequence of the translocation was over-expression of BCL11A. *BCL11A* is located near the *REL* gene on chromosome 2p13 and is co-amplified with *REL* in many cases of Hodgkin s disease and other B-cell, non-Hodgkin s lymphomas (Martin-Subero et al., 2002; Satterwhite et al., 2001). REL plays important roles in

regulation of proliferation, maturation, differentiation, and apoptosis of B lymphocytes via interaction with other members of the NF- κ B family (Gerondakis et al., 1998; Liou et al., 1994; Tumang et al., 1998). Although human BCL11A is expressed in early, multipotent hemopoietic progenitors (Nakamura et al., 2000), the contribution of BCL11A amplification in the pathogenesis of lymphoid leukemias remains to be investigated.

Human CTIP2 has also been implicated in hematopoietic disorders. A translocation event involving the human CTIP2 locus, t (5; 14)(q35; q32), results in acute T lymphoblastic leukemia (T ALL) (Bernard et al., 2001). However, the contribution of CTIP2 to this neoplastic process has yet to be assessed. Human CTIP2 is highly expressed during normal and pathological T lymphoid differentiation, suggesting that deregulated expression of this gene may not be an important recurrent consequence of the translocation (Bernard et al., 2001).

1.1.3 Role of CTIP1 and CTIP2 in hematopoietic cell development

Many developmental stages are required for the differentiation of pluripotent hematopoietic stem cells to mature blood cells (Orkin, 2000). This differentiation process requires the interplay of both external signals such as cytokines and several transcription factors. Many transcription factors are known to be essential for normal hematopoiesis. For example, AML1 is required for definitive hematopoiesis of all lineages (Okuda et al., 1996), whereas PU.1 is required for development of common lymphoid progenitor (CLP) and common myeloid progenitor (CMP) (McKercher et al., 1996; Scott et al., 1994). Similarly, E2A (Bain et al., 1994; Zhuang et al., 1994), coupled with Ebf1 (Lin and Grosschedl, 1995), is required for for commitment to the B cell pathway, whereas Pax5 is required for full commitment to the B cell pathway (Nutt et al., 1999; Rolink et al., 1999; Urbanek et al., 1994). In contrast, Gata3, Myb and Notch1 signaling are essential for the development of T cells (Allman et al., 2002; Ting et al., 1996).

BCL11A is expressed in various hematopoietic tissues including bone marrow, splenic B and T cells, monocytes, megakaryocytes (Nakamura et al., 2000), and in germinal center B cells (Lin and Grosschedl, 1995). The analysis of both BCL11A (Liu et al., 2003) and BCL11B (Wakabayashi et al., 2003a) null animals has demonstrated a role for each in hematopoiesis and postnatal development. BCL11A is essential for normal lymphoid development (Liu et al., 2003). The initiation of B lymphopoiesis in bone marrow is dependent on the functions of E2A and Ebf1 transcription factors (Schebesta et al., 2002). E2A and Ebf1 activate the expression of many B cell-specific genes, however, this activation is not sufficient to commit B cell progenitors to the B cell lineage in the absence of

10

Pax5, which restricts the further development of lymphoid progenitors to the B cell pathway (Nutt et al., 1999). BCL11A mutant mice failed to make B220⁺ B cells and lacked expression of either Ebf1 or Pax5 (Liu et al., 2003), indicating that BCL11A may function upstream of Ebf1 and Pax5 in the B cell lineage commitment pathway. Moreover, BCL11A is also required for normal T cell development because mutant thymuses had abnormal ratio of $\alpha\beta$ to $\gamma\delta$ thymocytes and CD4⁺ to CD8⁺ thymocytes (Liu et al., 2003). Mice transplanted with BCL11A-deficient cells died from T cell leukemia derived from host, suggesting that BCL11A may also function as a non-autonomous T cell tumor suppressor gene (Liu et al., 2003).

In contrast, BCL11B is required for differentiation and survival of $\alpha\beta$ T lymphocytes (Wakabayashi et al., 2003b). The BCL11B^{-/-} thymocytes demonstrated unsuccessful recombination of V_β to D_β and lacked the pre-T cell receptor (TCR) complex on the cell surface. Profound apoptosis in the thymus of neonatal BCL11B^{-/-} mice was also observed, suggesting that thymocytes in BCL11B^{-/-} mice are highly susceptible to apoptosis. However, loss of BCL11B does not affect the development of cells in B or $\gamma\delta$ T cell lineages (Wakabayashi et al., 2003b).

1.2 Mechanisms of transcriptional regulation in eukaryotic cells

Eukaryotic transcription is strongly influenced by the chromosomal context of the DNA template. During interphase of the cell cycle, genes are complexed with core histones and other chromosomal proteins in the form of chromatin. The basic repeating unit of chromatin is the nucleosome, consisting of two copies of each of four histones (H2A, H2B, H3, and H4) wrapped by 145-147 bp of DNA in left-handed super helical turns (Luger et al., 1997; Verreault, 2000). The shape of the nucleosome is similar to a flat disk with diameter of 11 nm and height of 6 nm, and the length of the DNA is ~34 nm circumference of the particle (Luger et al., 1997). The length of linker DNA varies from 8 bp to 114 bp per nucleosome. At metaphase of the cell cycle, chromatin fiber or solenoid (30 nm in diameter) is compactly folded into the chromosome that is comprised of two chromatids.

Histones are subject to a complex and dynamic set of covalent modification of transcription in eukaryotic cells. The histone tails (amino terminal part of histone molecules) are essential for nucleosomenucleosome interaction (Luger et al., 1997), and for establishing transcriptionally repressive chromatin (heterochromatin; densely packed appearance in the nucleus) or transcriptionally active chromatin (euchromatin; relatively dispersed appearance in the nucleus) (Grunstein et al., 1995). The core histone tails are susceptible to various covalent modifications (see Fig. 1.2), such as acetylation (Roth et al., 2001), phosphorylation (Cheung et al., 2000), methylation (Kaczynski et al., 2001; Lachner and Jenuwein, 2002), and ubiquitination (Jason et al., 2002). Among these covalent modifications, histone acetylation has been studied intensively regarding its function in transcriptional regulation.

Many histone acetyltransferases (HATs) have been identified. The TAF250 histone acetylase (Mizzen et al., 1996), a subunit of TFIID complex, is likely to be associated with essentially all promoters during transcription initiation. The p300/CBP histone acetylase is tightly associated with the Pol II holoenzyme (Nakajima et al., 1997), suggesting that this histone acetylase could be viewed as a more general component of the transcription machinery. The transcriptional co-activators ACTR (Chen et al., 1997) and SRC-1 (Spencer et al., 1997) associate various nuclear receptors in a hormone dependent manner. The P/CAF histone acetylase associates both with p300/CBP (Yang et al., 1996b) and with the nuclear receptor co-activators ACTR and SRC-1 (Chen et al., 1997; Chen et al., 1999; Spencer et al., 1997), thereby forming transcriptional regulatory protein complexes with multiple histone acetylases. These findings suggest that transcriptional regulation by histone acetylation is remarkably diverse.

Beyond histone acetylation, phosphorylation of histones H1 and H3 has long been implicated in chromosomal condensation during mitosis (Bradbury, 1992; Bui et al., 2004; Koshland and Strunnikov, 1996). Histone



Figure 1.2. Sites of post-translational modifications on the histone tails. The modifications shown include acetylation, methylation, phosphorylation, and ubiquitination. The lys 9 in the H3 tail can be either acetylated or methylated. The sites of covalent modifications shown above are based on information from the previously published report (Zhang and Reinberg, 2001).

methylation contributes to both transcriptional activation and repression (Zhang and Reinberg, 2001). PRMT1, a member of protein arginine methyltransferase (PRMTs), participates in transcriptional regulation through methylation of core histones. PRMT1-mediated methylation of H4-R3 facilitates subsequent acetylation of histone H4 by p300 (Wang et al., 2001). PRMT4/CARM1 (coactivator-associated arginine methyltransferase1) is a coactivator that participates in transcriptional regulation in the presence of the p160 family of coactivators. CARM1 and p300 have been shown to synergistically enhance transcription from the estrogen receptor (Koh et al., 2001). Unlike PRMT1 and PRMT4, PRMT5 has been shown to participate in transcriptional repression of cyclin E1 gene (Fabbrizio et al., 2002). Methylation of histone H3-K9 creates the binding surface for the heterochromatin-associated protein HP1 that bind and self-assemble into a supramolecular, chromatinized template, leading to transcriptional repression (Lachner et al., 2001).

Similar to histone acetylation and phosphorylation, histone ubiquitination is a reversible modification, in which addition or removal of a group from a histone molecule results in opposing transcriptional effects. Histone ubiquitination regulates gene transcription in a positive and negative fashion, depending on its genomic and gene location. Histone H2B ubiquitination is required for telomeric and HML silencing but required for the activation of SAGA regulated genes (Zhang, 2003). The histone code

hypothesis predicts that a pre-existing modification affects subsequent modifications on histone tails, in which these modifications serve as marks for the recruitment of different proteins/protein complexes to regulate transcription, DNA replication, and chromosome segregation (Strahl and Allis, 2000).

1.3 Histone deacetylation and transcriptional repression

Transcriptional repression by sequence-specific transcription factors plays a crucial role in the regulation of diverse biological processes, including cell proliferation, development, and homeostasis (Mannervik et al., 1999). Nucleosomes act as general repressors of basal transcription by inhibition of transcriptional initiation and elongation by RNA pol II. The activation of transcriptionally repressed templates requires the actions of sequence-specific DNA-binding transcriptional activators, chromatin remodeling complexes, and histone acetyltransferases. In general, acetylation of core histone tails leads to opening of chromatin structure to allow transcription (see Fig. 1.3). Conversely, deacetylation of core histone tails by histone deacetylases (HDACs) facilitates formation of a compacted form of chromatin, making genes less accessible to transcriptional activators and/or the general transcription machinery (Struhl, 1998).



В



Figure 1.3. **Histone acetylation and deacetylation regulate transcription.** *A*, Histone acetylation by histone acetyltransferases (HATs) leads to transcriptional activation, whereas histone deacetylation by histone deacetylases (HDACs) leads to transcriptional repression. *B*, HDACs and HATs are associated with the Pol II transcription machinery. Relationship of HATs (green ovals) and HDACs (red ovals) with components of the basic transcriptional machinery (TFIID and Pol II holoenzyme), gene-specific activator (yellow-green oval) and gene-specific repressor (purple oval), is shown. Biochemically defined interactions are indicated by direct contact of the relevant ovals or by solid arrows.

17

Steady-state levels of acetylation in the core histone result from the balance between histone acetylation and histone deacetylation (Strahl and Allis, 2000; Struhl, 1998). In general, increased levels of histone acetylation are associated with transcriptional activation, whereas increased deacetylation levels are associated with repression (Grunstein, 1997; Struhl, 1998).

1.4 Histone deacetylases (HDACs)

Mammalian HDACs have been identified and divided into three classes based on their similarity to yeast enzymes. Class I HDACs including HDAC 1-3, 8, and possibly HDAC 11, are similar to yeast Rpd3, whereas class II HDACs including HDAC 4-7, 9, and 10, are similar to yeast enzyme Hda1 (De Ruijter et al., 2002; Fischer et al., 2002; Gao et al., 2002; Gray and Ekstrom, 2001). All known members of class I and class II HDACs are sensitive to inhibition by TSA to varying degrees (De Ruijter et al., 2002; Fischer et al., 2002; Fischle et al., 2001; Gao et al., 2002; Gray and Ekstrom, 2001; Zhou et al., 2001). Although Class I HDACs are currently believed to be expressed in most cell types, the expression of class II HDACs is more restricted, suggesting that the latter may be involved in cellular differentiation and developmental processes (Buggy et al., 2000; Galasinski et al., 2002). Class I HDACs have been associated with classical transcriptional co-repressors including Sin3, NcoR/SMRT and methyl CpGbinding proteins (Wade, 2001). HDAC complexes are recruited to the nucleosomal template via specific interaction with DNA-binding repressor proteins such as MAD (Hassig et al., 1997; Laherty et al., 1997), YY1 (Yang et al., 1996a), Ume6 (Kadosh and Struhl, 1997), REST/NRSF (Roopra et al., 2000), and BTEB3 (Kaczynski et al., 2001), or with their associated corepressors such as NcoR/SMRT (Alland et al., 1997; Heinzel et al., 1997; Nagy et al., 1997), and Sin3A (Huang et al., 2000).

A third class of HDACs, represented by the Sir2-like proteins, are structurally and catalytically different from class I and II HDACs (De Ruijter et al., 2002; Gray and Ekstrom, 2001). Yeast Sir2 and its mammalian homologs (class III HDACs) are nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD⁺)-dependent deacetylases (Imai et al., 2000), which distinguishes them from class I and II HDACs. Currently, seven human homologs of class III HDACs, identified as Sir2-like proteins (Sirtuins; SIRT1-7), have been isolated (Frye, 1999; Frye, 2000). According to protein sequence homology, SIRT1 and its mouse ortholog Sir2 α are the closest homologs to yeast Sir2 (Frye, 1999; Gray and Ekstrom, 2001). All mammalian class III HDACs have a sirtuin core domain or sirtuin homology domain, which contains a series of sequence motifs conserved in organisms ranging from bacteria to human (Frye, 1999; Frye, 2000). Various in vitro inhibitors of SIRT isozymes have been described, however, the catalytic activity of class III HDACs is not

19

inhibited by TSA, but may be inhibited by nicotinamide (NAM), a product of SIRT-mediated deacetylation reaction (Bitterman et al., 2002; Grozinger et al., 2001; Imai et al., 2000). The substrate specificity of mammalian class III HDACs has not been studied intensively, however, the mouse SIRT1 homolog (Sir2 α) has been demonstrated to deacetylate lysine 9 and 14 of histone H3 and lysine 16 of histone H4 in the context of synthetic acetylated peptides (Imai et al., 2000). Although yeast Sir2 is involved in mediating the transcriptional silencing of the silent mating type (MAT) loci HML and HMR (Ivy et al., 1986), the contribution of mammalian homologs of yeast Sir2 to transcriptional repression remains to be explored. Recently, a Sir2 α knockout study in mouse embryonic stem cells has demonstrated that the absence of Sir2 α protein has no effect on global gene silencing (McBurney et al., 2003). However, the possibility that member(s) of mammalian class III HDACs may involve in transcriptional repression of specific genes cannot be excluded.

SIRT1 has been shown to repress p53-mediated transcriptional activation in mammalian cells (Langley et al., 2002; Luo et al., 2001; Vaziri et al., 2001)., providing evidence that SIRT1, at least in part, may play a role in transcriptional repression of specific genes. In addition, SIRT1 has also been demonstrated to deacetylate p53 and attenuate p53-mediated functions (Luo et al., 2001; Vaziri et al., 2001), and to antagonize PML/p53-induced cellular senescence (Langley et al., 2002). Similarly, SIRT1 has

been found to interact with the bHLH repressors HES1 and HEY2 and involve in transcriptional repression mediated by these proteins (Takata and Ishikawa, 2003). Recently, SIRT1 has been shown to deacetylate and repress the transcriptional activity of the Forkhead transcription factors (Motta et al., 2004). Unlike SIRT1, SIRT2 is a cytoplasmic protein and has been implicated in the control of mitotic exit in the cell cycle (Dryden et al., 2003), suggesting a role for SIRT2 as a regulator of mitotic progression. The biological function(s) of the other SIRT family members remains to be explored.

1.5 Research objectives

Understanding the biological properties of CTIP1 and CTIP2 may ultimately lead to a more thorough understanding of their cellular function(s). Toward the goal of elucidating potential mechanism(s) of transcriptional repression mediated by these proteins, biochemical and molecular biological techniques described herein were employed to study the molecular mechanism(s) that may underlie the biological function(s) of these proteins in mammalian cells. The specific aims are detailed in the following paragraphs. Chapter 2 describes studies that examine the involvement of the histone deacetylase SIRT1 in transcriptional repression mediated by CTIP2. The interaction between SIRT1 and CTIP2 was determined both in vitro and in mammalian cells. CTIP2 and SIRT1 truncation mutants were generated to identify the amino acid regions that are required for CTIP2•SIRT1 interaction. The Gal4 reporter gene assay was conducted to assess CTIP2•SIRT1-mediated transcriptional repression. The changes in levels of acetylated histones H3 and H4 at the promoter region of a reporter gene were also determined by chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assay. Column chromatography was conducted to analyze the CTIP2•SIRT1 protein complex(es).

Chapter 3 describes studies identifying the role of SIRT1 in CTIP1mediated transcriptional repression. Co-immunoprecipitation assay was performed to determine CTIP1•SIRT1 interaction in mammalian cells. The GST-pulldown experiments were conducted to identify the interaction interface(s) of both CTIP1 and SIRT1 that are required for direct interaction between these proteins. ChIP assays were also performed in order to determine the presence of SIRT1 and the levels of acetylated histones H3 and H4 at the promoter region of a reporter gene in CTIP1-transfected cells.

1.6 References

Albagli, O., Dhordain, P., Deweindt, C., Lecocq, G., and Leprince, D. (1995). The BTB/POZ domain: a new protein-protein interaction motif common to DNA- and actin-binding proteins. Cell Growth Differ 6, 1193-1198.

Alland, L., Muhle, R., Hou, H., Jr., Potes, J., Chin, L., Schreiber-Agus, N., and DePinho, R. A. (1997). Role for N-CoR and histone deacetylase in Sin3-mediated transcriptional repression. Nature *387*, 49-55.

Allman, D., Punt, J. A., Izon, D. J., Aster, J. C., and Pear, W. S. (2002). An invitation to T and more: notch signaling in lymphopoiesis. Cell *109 Suppl*, S1-11.

Avram, D., Fields, A., Pretty On Top, K., Nevrivy, D. J., Ishmael, J. E., and Leid, M. (2000). Isolation of a novel family of C(2)H(2) zinc finger proteins implicated in transcriptional repression mediated by chicken ovalbumin upstream promoter transcription factor (COUP-TF) orphan nuclear receptors. J Biol Chem 275, 10315-10322.

Avram, D., Fields, A., Senawong, T., Topark-Ngarm, A., and Leid, M. (2002). COUP-TF (chicken ovalbumin upstream promoter transcription factor)-interacting protein 1 (CTIP1) is a sequence-specific DNA binding protein. Biochem J *368*, 555-563.

Bain, G., Maandag, E. C., Izon, D. J., Amsen, D., Kruisbeek, A. M., Weintraub, B. C., Krop, I., Schlissel, M. S., Feeney, A. J., van Roon, M., and et al. (1994). E2A proteins are required for proper B cell development and initiation of immunoglobulin gene rearrangements. Cell *79*, 885-892.

Bardwell, V. J., and Treisman, R. (1994). The POZ domain: a conserved protein-protein interaction motif. Genes Dev *8*, 1664-1677.

Bellefroid, E. J., Poncelet, D. A., Lecocq, P. J., Revelant, O., and Martial, J. A. (1991). The evolutionarily conserved Kruppel-associated box domain defines a subfamily of eukaryotic multifingered proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *88*, 3608-3612.

Bernard, O. A., Busson-LeConiat, M., Ballerini, P., Mauchauffe, M., Della Valle, V., Monni, R., Nguyen Khac, F., Mercher, T., Penard-Lacronique, V., Pasturaud, P., et al. (2001). A new recurrent and specific cryptic translocation, t(5;14)(q35;q32), is associated with expression of the

Hox11L2 gene in T acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia 15, 1495-1504.

Bitterman, K. J., Anderson, R. M., Cohen, H. Y., Latorre-Esteves, M., and Sinclair, D. A. (2002). Inhibition of silencing and accelerated aging by nicotinamide, a putative negative regulator of yeast sir2 and human SIRT1. J Biol Chem 277, 45099-45107.

Bradbury, E. M. (1992). Reversible histone modifications and the chromosome cell cycle. Bioessays *14*, 9-16.

Buggy, J. J., Sideris, M. L., Mak, P., Lorimer, D. D., McIntosh, B., and Clark, J. M. (2000). Cloning and characterization of a novel human histone deacetylase, HDAC8. Biochem J *350 Pt 1*, 199-205.

Bui, H. T., Yamaoka, E., and Miyano, T. (2004). Involvement of Histone H3 (Ser10) Phosphorylation in Chromosome Condensation Without Cdc2 Kinase and Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Activation in Pig Oocytes. Biol Reprod.

Chen, H., Lin, R. J., Schiltz, R. L., Chakravarti, D., Nash, A., Nagy, L., Privalsky, M. L., Nakatani, Y., and Evans, R. M. (1997). Nuclear receptor coactivator ACTR is a novel histone acetyltransferase and forms a multimeric activation complex with P/CAF and CBP/p300. Cell *90*, 569-580.

Chen, H., Lin, R. J., Xie, W., Wilpitz, D., and Evans, R. M. (1999). Regulation of hormone-induced histone hyperacetylation and gene activation via acetylation of an acetylase. Cell 98, 675-686.

Cheung, P., Tanner, K. G., Cheung, W. L., Sassone-Corsi, P., Denu, J. M., and Allis, C. D. (2000). Synergistic coupling of histone H3 phosphorylation and acetylation in response to epidermal growth factor stimulation. Mol Cell *5*, 905-915.

De Ruijter, A. J., Van Gennip, A. H., Caron, H. N., Kemp, S., and Van Kuilenburg, A. B. (2002). Histone deacetylases: characterisation of the classical HDAC family. Biochem J *370*, 737-749.

Dryden, S. C., Nahhas, F. A., Nowak, J. E., Goustin, A. S., and Tainsky, M. A. (2003). Role for human SIRT2 NAD-dependent deacetylase activity in control of mitotic exit in the cell cycle. Mol Cell Biol *23*, 3173-3185.

Dyer, M. J., and Oscier, D. G. (2002). The configuration of the immunoglobulin genes in B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leukemia *16*, 973-984.
Fabbrizio, E., El Messaoudi, S., Polanowska, J., Paul, C., Cook, J. R., Lee, J. H., Negre, V., Rousset, M., Pestka, S., Le Cam, A., and Sardet, C. (2002). Negative regulation of transcription by the type II arginine methyltransferase PRMT5. EMBO Rep *3*, 641-645.

Fischer, D. D., Cai, R., Bhatia, U., Asselbergs, F. A., Song, C., Terry, R., Trogani, N., Widmer, R., Atadja, P., and Cohen, D. (2002). Isolation and characterization of a novel class II histone deacetylase, HDAC10. J Biol Chem 277, 6656-6666.

Fischle, W., Dequiedt, F., Fillion, M., Hendzel, M. J., Voelter, W., and Verdin, E. (2001). Human HDAC7 histone deacetylase activity is associated with HDAC3 in vivo. J Biol Chem *276*, 35826-35835.

Frye, R. A. (1999). Characterization of five human cDNAs with homology to the yeast SIR2 gene: Sir2-like proteins (sirtuins) metabolize NAD and may have protein ADP-ribosyltransferase activity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *260*, 273-279.

Frye, R. A. (2000). Phylogenetic classification of prokaryotic and eukaryotic Sir2-like proteins. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 273, 793-798.

Galasinski, S. C., Resing, K. A., Goodrich, J. A., and Ahn, N. G. (2002). Phosphatase inhibition leads to histone deacetylases 1 and 2 phosphorylation and disruption of corepressor interactions. J Biol Chem 277, 19618-19626.

Gao, L., Cueto, M. A., Asselbergs, F., and Atadja, P. (2002). Cloning and functional characterization of HDAC11, a novel member of the human histone deacetylase family. J Biol Chem 277, 25748-25755.

Gerondakis, S., Grumont, R., Rourke, I., and Grossmann, M. (1998). The regulation and roles of Rel/NF-kappa B transcription factors during lymphocyte activation. Curr Opin Immunol *10*, 353-359.

Goossens, T., Klein, U., and Kuppers, R. (1998). Frequent occurrence of deletions and duplications during somatic hypermutation: implications for oncogene translocations and heavy chain disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *95*, 2463-2468.

Gray, S. G., and Ekstrom, T. J. (2001). The human histone deacetylase family. Exp Cell Res *262*, 75-83.

Grignani, F., De Matteis, S., Nervi, C., Tomassoni, L., Gelmetti, V., Cioce, M., Fanelli, M., Ruthardt, M., Ferrara, F. F., Zamir, I., *et al.* (1998). Fusion

proteins of the retinoic acid receptor-alpha recruit histone deacetylase in promyelocytic leukaemia. Nature *391*, 815-818.

Grozinger, C. M., Chao, E. D., Blackwell, H. E., Moazed, D., and Schreiber, S. L. (2001). Identification of a class of small molecule inhibitors of the sirtuin family of NAD-dependent deacetylases by phenotypic screening. J Biol Chem 276, 38837-38843.

Grunstein, M. (1997). Histone acetylation in chromatin structure and transcription. Nature *389*, 349-352.

Grunstein, M., Hecht, A., Fisher-Adams, G., Wan, J., Mann, R. K., Strahl-Bolsinger, S., Laroche, T., and Gasser, S. (1995). The regulation of euchromatin and heterochromatin by histones in yeast. J Cell Sci Suppl *19*, 29-36.

Hassig, C. A., Fleischer, T. C., Billin, A. N., Schreiber, S. L., and Ayer, D. E. (1997). Histone deacetylase activity is required for full transcriptional repression by mSin3A. Cell *8*9, 341-347.

Heinzel, T., Lavinsky, R. M., Mullen, T. M., Soderstrom, M., Laherty, C. D., Torchia, J., Yang, W. M., Brard, G., Ngo, S. D., Davie, J. R., *et al.* (1997). A complex containing N-CoR, mSin3 and histone deacetylase mediates transcriptional repression. Nature *387*, 43-48.

Hong, S. H., David, G., Wong, C. W., Dejean, A., and Privalsky, M. L. (1997). SMRT corepressor interacts with PLZF and with the PML-retinoic acid receptor alpha (RARalpha) and PLZF-RARalpha oncoproteins associated with acute promyelocytic leukemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *94*, 9028-9033.

Huang, E. Y., Zhang, J., Miska, E. A., Guenther, M. G., Kouzarides, T., and Lazar, M. A. (2000). Nuclear receptor corepressors partner with class II histone deacetylases in a Sin3-independent repression pathway. Genes Dev *14*, 45-54.

Imai, S., Armstrong, C. M., Kaeberlein, M., and Guarente, L. (2000). Transcriptional silencing and longevity protein Sir2 is an NAD-dependent histone deacetylase. Nature *403*, 795-800.

lvy, J. M., Klar, A. J., and Hicks, J. B. (1986). Cloning and characterization of four SIR genes of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Cell Biol *6*, 688-702.

Jason, L. J., Moore, S. C., Lewis, J. D., Lindsey, G., and Ausio, J. (2002). Histone ubiquitination: a tagging tail unfolds? Bioessays *24*, 166-174. Kaczynski, J., Zhang, J. S., Ellenrieder, V., Conley, A., Duenes, T., Kester, H., van Der Burg, B., and Urrutia, R. (2001). The Sp1-like protein BTEB3 inhibits transcription via the basic transcription element box by interacting with mSin3A and HDAC-1 co-repressors and competing with Sp1. J Biol Chem *276*, 36749-36756.

Kadosh, D., and Struhl, K. (1997). Repression by Ume6 involves recruitment of a complex containing Sin3 corepressor and Rpd3 histone deacetylase to target promoters. Cell *89*, 365-371.

Klug, A., and Schwabe, J. W. (1995). Protein motifs 5. Zinc fingers. Faseb J 9, 597-604.

Koh, S. S., Chen, D., Lee, Y. H., and Stallcup, M. R. (2001). Synergistic enhancement of nuclear receptor function by p160 coactivators and two coactivators with protein methyltransferase activities. J Biol Chem 276, 1089-1098.

Koshland, D., and Strunnikov, A. (1996). Mitotic chromosome condensation. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol *12*, 305-333.

Kuppers, R., and Dalla-Favera, R. (2001). Mechanisms of chromosomal translocations in B cell lymphomas. Oncogene 20, 5580-5594.

Lachner, M., and Jenuwein, T. (2002). The many faces of histone lysine methylation. Curr Opin Cell Biol *14*, 286-298.

Lachner, M., O'Carroll, D., Rea, S., Mechtler, K., and Jenuwein, T. (2001). Methylation of histone H3 lysine 9 creates a binding site for HP1 proteins. Nature *410*, 116-120.

Laherty, C. D., Yang, W. M., Sun, J. M., Davie, J. R., Seto, E., and Eisenman, R. N. (1997). Histone deacetylases associated with the mSin3 corepressor mediate mad transcriptional repression. Cell *89*, 349-356.

Lander, E. S., Linton, L. M., Birren, B., Nusbaum, C., Zody, M. C., Baldwin, J., Devon, K., Dewar, K., Doyle, M., FitzHugh, W., et al. (2001). Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome. Nature *409*, 860-921.

Langley, E., Pearson, M., Faretta, M., Bauer, U. M., Frye, R. A., Minucci, S., Pelicci, P. G., and Kouzarides, T. (2002). Human SIR2 deacetylates p53 and antagonizes PML/p53-induced cellular senescence. Embo J *21*, 2383-2396.

Lania, L., Majello, B., and De Luca, P. (1997). Transcriptional regulation by the Sp family proteins. Int J Biochem Cell Biol *29*, 1313-1323.

Lin, B., Chen, G. Q., Xiao, D., Kolluri, S. K., Cao, X., Su, H., and Zhang, X. K. (2000). Orphan receptor COUP-TF is required for induction of retinoic acid receptor beta, growth inhibition, and apoptosis by retinoic acid in cancer cells. Mol Cell Biol *20*, 957-970.

Lin, H., and Grosschedl, R. (1995). Failure of B-cell differentiation in mice lacking the transcription factor EBF. Nature *376*, 263-267.

Lin, R. J., Nagy, L., Inoue, S., Shao, W., Miller, W. H., Jr., and Evans, R. M. (1998). Role of the histone deacetylase complex in acute promyelocytic leukaemia. Nature *391*, 811-814.

Liou, H. C., Sha, W. C., Scott, M. L., and Baltimore, D. (1994). Sequential induction of NF-kappa B/Rel family proteins during B-cell terminal differentiation. Mol Cell Biol *14*, 5349-5359.

Liu, P., Keller, J. R., Ortiz, M., Tessarollo, L., Rachel, R. A., Nakamura, T., Jenkins, N. A., and Copeland, N. G. (2003). Bcl11a is essential for normal lymphoid development. Nat Immunol *4*, 525-532.

Losson, R. (1997). KRAB zinc finger proteins and nuclear receptors: a possible cross-talk. Biol Chem *378*, 579-581.

Luger, K., Mader, A. W., Richmond, R. K., Sargent, D. F., and Richmond, T. J. (1997). Crystal structure of the nucleosome core particle at 2.8 A resolution. Nature 389, 251-260.

Luo, J., Nikolaev, A. Y., Imai, S., Chen, D., Su, F., Shiloh, A., Guarente, L., and Gu, W. (2001). Negative control of p53 by Sir2alpha promotes cell survival under stress. Cell *107*, 137-148.

Mackay, J. P., and Crossley, M. (1998). Zinc fingers are sticking together. Trends Biochem Sci 23, 1-4.

Mannervik, M., Nibu, Y., Zhang, H., and Levine, M. (1999). Transcriptional coregulators in development. Science 284, 606-609.

Martin-Subero, J. I., Gesk, S., Harder, L., Sonoki, T., Tucker, P. W., Schlegelberger, B., Grote, W., Novo, F. J., Calasanz, M. J., Hansmann, M. L., *et al.* (2002). Recurrent involvement of the REL and BCL11A loci in classical Hodgkin lymphoma. Blood 99, 1474-1477.

McBurney, M. W., Yang, X., Jardine, K., Bieman, M., Th'ng, J., and Lemieux, M. (2003). The absence of SIR2alpha protein has no effect on global gene silencing in mouse embryonic stem cells. Mol Cancer Res 1, 402-409.

McKercher, S. R., Torbett, B. E., Anderson, K. L., Henkel, G. W., Vestal, D. J., Baribault, H., Klemsz, M., Feeney, A. J., Wu, G. E., Paige, C. J., and Maki, R. A. (1996). Targeted disruption of the PU.1 gene results in multiple hematopoietic abnormalities. Embo J *15*, 5647-5658.

Mizzen, C. A., Yang, X. J., Kokubo, T., Brownell, J. E., Bannister, A. J., Owen-Hughes, T., Workman, J., Wang, L., Berger, S. L., Kouzarides, T., *et al.* (1996). The TAF(II)250 subunit of TFIID has histone acetyltransferase activity. Cell *87*, 1261-1270.

Motta, C. M., Divecha, N., Lemieux, M., Kamel, C., Chen, D., Gu, W., Bultsma, Y., McBurney, M., Guarente, L. (2004). Mammalian SIRT1 Represses Forkhead Transcription Factors. Cell *116*, 551-563.

Murray, P., and Edgar, D. (2001). Regulation of laminin and COUP-TF expression in extraembryonic endodermal cells. Mech Dev *101*, 213-215.

Nagy, L., Kao, H. Y., Chakravarti, D., Lin, R. J., Hassig, C. A., Ayer, D. E., Schreiber, S. L., and Evans, R. M. (1997). Nuclear receptor repression mediated by a complex containing SMRT, mSin3A, and histone deacetylase. Cell *89*, 373-380.

Nakajima, T., Uchida, C., Anderson, S. F., Parvin, J. D., and Montminy, M. (1997). Analysis of a cAMP-responsive activator reveals a two-component mechanism for transcriptional induction via signal-dependent factors. Genes Dev *11*, 738-747.

Nakamura, T., Yamazaki, Y., Saiki, Y., Moriyama, M., Largaespada, D. A., Jenkins, N. A., and Copeland, N. G. (2000). Evi9 encodes a novel zinc finger protein that physically interacts with BCL6, a known human B-cell proto-oncogene product. Mol Cell Biol *20*, 3178-3186.

Nutt, S. L., Heavey, B., Rolink, A. G., and Busslinger, M. (1999). Commitment to the B-lymphoid lineage depends on the transcription factor Pax5. Nature *401*, 556-562.

Okuda, T., van Deursen, J., Hiebert, S. W., Grosveld, G., and Downing, J. R. (1996). AML1, the target of multiple chromosomal translocations in human leukemia, is essential for normal fetal liver hematopoiesis. Cell *84*, 321-330.

Orkin, S. H. (2000). Diversification of haematopoietic stem cells to specific lineages. Nat Rev Genet 1, 57-64.

Pereira, F. A., Tsai, M. J., and Tsai, S. Y. (2000). COUP-TF orphan nuclear receptors in development and differentiation. Cell Mol Life Sci *57*, 1388-1398.

Rolink, A. G., Nutt, S. L., Melchers, F., and Busslinger, M. (1999). Long-term in vivo reconstitution of T-cell development by Pax5-deficient B-cell progenitors. Nature *401*, 603-606.

Roopra, A., Sharling, L., Wood, I. C., Briggs, T., Bachfischer, U., Paquette, A. J., and Buckley, N. J. (2000). Transcriptional repression by neuron-restrictive silencer factor is mediated via the Sin3-histone deacetylase complex. Mol Cell Biol *20*, 2147-2157.

Roth, S. Y., Denu, J. M., and Allis, C. D. (2001). Histone acetyltransferases. Annu Rev Biochem *70*, 81-120.

Satterwhite, E., Sonoki, T., Willis, T. G., Harder, L., Nowak, R., Arriola, E. L., Liu, H., Price, H. P., Gesk, S., Steinemann, D., *et al.* (2001). The BCL11 gene family: involvement of BCL11A in lymphoid malignancies. Blood *98*, 3413-3420.

Schebesta, M., Heavey, B., and Busslinger, M. (2002). Transcriptional control of B-cell development. Curr Opin Immunol *14*, 216-223.

Schoenherr, C. J., and Anderson, D. J. (1995). Silencing is golden: negative regulation in the control of neuronal gene transcription. Curr Opin Neurobiol *5*, 566-571.

Schultz, D. C., Friedman, J. R., and Rauscher, F. J., 3rd (2001). Targeting histone deacetylase complexes via KRAB-zinc finger proteins: the PHD and bromodomains of KAP-1 form a cooperative unit that recruits a novel isoform of the Mi-2alpha subunit of NuRD. Genes Dev *15*, 428-443.

Schumacher, C., Wang, H., Honer, C., Ding, W., Koehn, J., Lawrence, Q., Coulis, C. M., Wang, L. L., Ballinger, D., Bowen, B. R., and Wagner, S. (2000). The SCAN domain mediates selective oligomerization. J Biol Chem 275, 17173-17179.

Scott, E. W., Simon, M. C., Anastasi, J., and Singh, H. (1994). Requirement of transcription factor PU.1 in the development of multiple hematopoietic lineages. Science *265*, 1573-1577.

Shastry, B. S. (1996). Transcription factor IIIA (TFIIIA) in the second decade. J Cell Sci 109 (Pt 3), 535-539.

Spencer, T. E., Jenster, G., Burcin, M. M., Allis, C. D., Zhou, J., Mizzen, C. A., McKenna, N. J., Onate, S. A., Tsai, S. Y., Tsai, M. J., and O'Malley, B. W. (1997). Steroid receptor coactivator-1 is a histone acetyltransferase. Nature *389*, 194-198.

Strahl, B. D., and Allis, C. D. (2000). The language of covalent histone modifications. Nature 403, 41-45.

Struhl, K. (1998). Histone acetylation and transcriptional regulatory mechanisms. Genes Dev *12*, 599-606.

Takata, T., and Ishikawa, F. (2003). Human Sir2-related protein SIRT1 associates with the bHLH repressors HES1 and HEY2 and is involved in HES1- and HEY2-mediated transcriptional repression. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *301*, 250-257.

Ting, C. N., Olson, M. C., Barton, K. P., and Leiden, J. M. (1996). Transcription factor GATA-3 is required for development of the T-cell lineage. Nature *384*, 474-478.

Tsai, S. Y., and Tsai, M. J. (1997). Chick ovalbumin upstream promotertranscription factors (COUP-TFs): coming of age. Endocr Rev 18, 229-240.

Tumang, J. R., Owyang, A., Andjelic, S., Jin, Z., Hardy, R. R., Liou, M. L., and Liou, H. C. (1998). c-Rel is essential for B lymphocyte survival and cell cycle progression. Eur J Immunol *28*, 4299-4312.

Tupler, R., Perini, G., and Green, M. R. (2001). Expressing the human genome. Nature 409, 832-833.

Urbanek, P., Wang, Z. Q., Fetka, I., Wagner, E. F., and Busslinger, M. (1994). Complete block of early B cell differentiation and altered patterning of the posterior midbrain in mice lacking Pax5/BSAP. Cell *79*, 901-912.

Vaziri, H., Dessain, S. K., Ng Eaton, E., Imai, S. I., Frye, R. A., Pandita, T. K., Guarente, L., and Weinberg, R. A. (2001). hSIR2(SIRT1) functions as an NAD-dependent p53 deacetylase. Cell *107*, 149-159.

Verreault, A. (2000). De novo nucleosome assembly: new pieces in an old puzzle. Genes Dev *14*, 1430-1438.

Wade, P. A. (2001). Transcriptional control at regulatory checkpoints by histone deacetylases: molecular connections between cancer and chromatin. Hum Mol Genet *10*, 693-698.

Wakabayashi, Y., Inoue, J., Takahashi, Y., Matsuki, A., Kosugi-Okano, H., Shinbo, T., Mishima, Y., Niwa, O., and Kominami, R. (2003a). Homozygous deletions and point mutations of the Rit1/Bcl11b gene in gamma-ray induced mouse thymic lymphomas. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *301*, 598-603.

Wakabayashi, Y., Watanabe, H., Inoue, J., Takeda, N., Sakata, J., Mishima, Y., Hitomi, J., Yamamoto, T., Utsuyama, M., Niwa, O., *et al.* (2003b). Bcl11b is required for differentiation and survival of alphabeta T lymphocytes. Nat Immunol *4*, 533-539.

Wang, H., Huang, Z. Q., Xia, L., Feng, Q., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Strahl, B. D., Briggs, S. D., Allis, C. D., Wong, J., Tempst, P., and Zhang, Y. (2001). Methylation of histone H4 at arginine 3 facilitating transcriptional activation by nuclear hormone receptor. Science 293, 853-857.

Williams, A. J., Khachigian, L. M., Shows, T., and Collins, T. (1995). Isolation and characterization of a novel zinc-finger protein with transcription repressor activity. J Biol Chem 270, 22143-22152.

Wolfe, S. A., Nekludova, L., and Pabo, C. O. (2000). DNA recognition by Cys2His2 zinc finger proteins. Annu Rev Biophys Biomol Struct *29*, 183-212.

Yang, W. M., Inouye, C., Zeng, Y., Bearss, D., and Seto, E. (1996a). Transcriptional repression by YY1 is mediated by interaction with a mammalian homolog of the yeast global regulator RPD3. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93, 12845-12850.

Yang, X. J., Ogryzko, V. V., Nishikawa, J., Howard, B. H., and Nakatani, Y. (1996b). A p300/CBP-associated factor that competes with the adenoviral oncoprotein E1A. Nature *382*, 319-324.

Zhang, Y. (2003). Transcriptional regulation by histone ubiquitination and deubiquitination. Genes Dev *17*, 2733-2740.

Zhang, Y., and Reinberg, D. (2001). Transcription regulation by histone methylation: interplay between different covalent modifications of the core histone tails. Genes Dev *15*, 2343-2360.

Zhou, X., Marks, P. A., Rifkind, R. A., and Richon, V. M. (2001). Cloning and characterization of a histone deacetylase, HDAC9. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98, 10572-10577.

Zhuang, Y., Soriano, P., and Weintraub, H. (1994). The helix-loop-helix gene E2A is required for B cell formation. Cell 79, 875-884.

Chapter 2

Involvement of the Histone Deacetylase SIRT1 in COUP-TF-interacting Protein 2-mediated Transcriptional Repression

Thanaset Senawong^{1,2}, Valerie J. Peterson², Dorina Avram⁴, David Shepherd⁵, Roy A. Frye⁶, Saverio Minucci⁷, and Mark Leid^{1,2,3}

¹Program in Molecular and Cellular Biology, ²Laboratory of Molecular Pharmacology, Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, College of Pharmacy, ³Environmental Health Sciences Center, Oregon State University, Corvallis, Oregon 97331, ⁴Center for Cell Biology and Cancer Research, Albany Medical College, 47 New Scotland Avenue, MC-165, Albany, NY 12208, ⁵Center for Environmental Health Sciences Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, College of Pharmacy, The University of Montana, Missoula, MT 59812, ⁶Pittsburgh V.A. Medical Center (132L), Department of Pathology, University of Pittsburgh, PA 15240, ⁷Department of Experimental Oncology, European Institute of Oncology and Dept of Physiology and Biochemistry, University of Milan, 20126 Milan, Italy

The Journal of Biological Chemistry 278 : 43041-43050

2.1 Abstract

Chicken ovalbumin upstream promoter transcription factor (COUP-TF)interacting proteins 1 and 2 (CTIP1 and CTIP2) enhance transcriptional repression mediated by COUP-TF II and have been implicated in hematopoietic cell development and malignancies. CTIP1 and CTIP2 are also sequence-specific DNA binding proteins that repress transcription through direct, COUP-TF-independent binding to a GC-rich response CTIP1- and CTIP2-mediated transcriptional repression is element. insensitive to trichostatin A, an inhibitor of known class I and II histone deacetylases. However, chromatin immunoprecipitation assays revealed that expression of CTIP2 in mammalian cells resulted in deacetylation of histones H3 and/or H4 that were associated with the promoter region of a reporter gene. CTIP2-mediated transcriptional repression, as well as deacetylation of promoter-associated histones H3/H4 in CTIP2-transfected cells, was reversed by nicotinamide, an inhibitor of class III histone deacetylases such as the mammalian homologs of yeast Silent Information Regulator 2 (Sir2). The human homolog of yeast Sir2, SIRT1, was found to interact directly with CTIP2 and was recruited to the promoter template in a CTIP2-dependent manner. Moreover, SIRT1 enhanced the deacetylation of template-associated histones H3/H4 in CTIP2-transfected cells, and stimulated CTIP2-dependent transcriptional repression. Finally, endogenous

SIRT1 and CTIP2 co-purified from Jurkat cell nuclear extracts in the context of a large (1-2 mDa) complex. These findings implicate SIRT1 as a histone H3/H4 deacetylase in mammalian cells and in transcriptional repression mediated by CTIP2.

2.2 Introduction

CTIP1 (EVI9 or BCL11A) and CTIP2 (BCL11B) are two related C_2H_2 zinc finger proteins that were originally isolated and identified as COUP-TFinteracting protein (Avram et al., 2000). CTIP1 (Avram et al., 2000) and CTIP2 (Avram et al, unpublished results) both enhance COUP-TFIImediated transcriptional repression in transfected cells independently of trichostatin A (TSA)-sensitive histone deacetylation. Both CTIPs are expressed in hematopoietic cells of lymphoid origin (Shepherd et al., manuscript in preparation), which is of interest because lymphoid-derived cells are devoid of transcripts encoding COUP-TF family members (Shepherd et al., manuscript in preparation). Thus, it is likely that CTIPs either function with other nuclear receptors in cells of lymphoid origin or act as COUP-TF-independent transcription factors in these cells. The latter appears to be true as CTIP1 and CTIP2 have been demonstrated to repress expression of a reporter gene through direct binding to a recently identified binding site, 5'-GGCCGGAGG-3' (upper strand) (Avram et al., 2002). This repression was observed in the absence of cotransfected COUP-TF proteins and was insensitive to reversal by TSA (Avram et al., 2002). These findings indicate that CTIP proteins may regulate transcription independently of COUP-TF proteins and TSA-sensitive HDACs in some cell types and/or promoter contexts.

CTIP1 and CTIP2 have been implicated in the etiology of both myeloid and lymphoid malignancies. Overexpression of the CTIP1 gene following proviral integration in murine hematopoietic cells results in the generation of myeloid leukemia (Nakamura et al., 2000). Similarly, dysregulation of the human CTIP1 locus (2p13) either by amplification or translocation appears to result in B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia and immunocytoma (Satterwhite et al., 2001). The human CTIP2 locus (14q32) has been associated with a translocation event, t(5;14)(q35;q32), which results in acute T lymphoblastic leukemia (Bernard et al., 2001). More recently, CTIP2 loss of function mutations were found to contribute to mouse lymphoma genesis, leading the authors to speculate that CTIP2 may function as a tumor suppressor protein (Wakabayashi et al., 2003a). The analysis of both CTIP1- (Liu et al., 2003) and CTIP2- (Wakabayashi et al., 2003b) null animals has demonstrated a role for each in hematopoiesis and postnatal development. Although human CTIP1 and CTIP2 are expressed in early, multipotent hemopoietic progenitors, neither the physiological

function(s) nor the contribution of these proteins to neoplastic processes in these cells is known (Bernard et al., 2001; Saiki et al., 2000). Accordingly, it is important to elucidate the mechanism(s) underlying transcriptional repression mediated by CTIP proteins in order to understand the biological properties of these proteins, and ultimately, their cellular function(s).

A number of mammalian HDACs have been identified and divided into three classes based on their similarity to yeast enzymes. Mammalian class I HDACs, such as HDAC 1-3, 8, and possibly 11, are similar to yeast Rpd3, whereas class II HDACs (HDAC 4-7, 9, and 10) are most similar to the yeast enzyme Hda1 (De Ruijter et al., 2002; Fischer et al., 2002; Gao et al., 2002; Gray and Ekstrom, 2001). All known members of class I and II HDAC families are sensitive to inhibition by TSA to varying degrees (De Ruijter et al., 2002; Fischer et al., 2002; Fischle et al., 2001; Gao et al., 2002; Gray and Ekstrom, 2001; Zhou et al., 2001). Histone deacetylation is believed to promote the repressed transcriptional state by facilitating formation of a compacted form of chromatin, thereby making genes less accessible to transcriptional activators and/or the general transcription machinery (Struhl, 1998). Moreover, TSA-sensitive histone deacetylation is required for the initial steps of heterochromatin formation leading to gene silencing (Zhang and Reinberg, 2001). HDAC complexes are recruited to the nucleosomal template via specific interaction with DNA-binding repressor proteins such as Mad (Hassig et al., 1997; Laherty et al., 1997),

YY1 (Yang et al., 1996), Ume6 (Kadosh and Struhl, 1997), REST/NRSF (Roopra et al., 2000), and BTEB3 (Kaczynski et al., 2001), or with their associated corepressors such as N-CoR/SMRT (Alland et al., 1997; Heinzel et al., 1997; Nagy et al., 1997) and Sin3A (Huang et al., 2000).

A third class of HDACs whose members are structurally and catalytically distinct from class I and class II enzymes is represented by the Sir2-like proteins (reviewed in Refs. (De Ruijter et al., 2002; Gray and Ekstrom, 2001). Yeast Sir2 and its mammalian homologs, are nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD⁺)-dependent deacetylases (Imai et al., 2000). which distinguishes them from class I and II HDACs. To date, seven human homologs of class III HDACs, known as Sirtuins (SIRT1-7), have been isolated (Frye, 1999; Frye, 2000). Based on protein sequence homology, SIRT1 and its mouse ortholog Sir2 α are the closest homologs to yeast Sir2 (Frye, 1999; Gray and Ekstrom, 2001). Although the substrate specificity of mammalian sirtuins has not been rigorously investigated, mouse Sir2 α has been demonstrated to deacetylate lysine 9 and 14 of histone H3 and lysine 16 of H4 in the context of synthetic, acetylated peptides (Imai et al., 2000). SIRT1 has also been demonstrated to deacetylate p53 and attenuate p53-mediated functions (Luo et al., 2001; Vaziri et al., 2001), and to antagonize PML/p53-induced cellular senescence (Langley et al., 2002). In addition, SIRT1 has been shown to repress p53-mediated transcriptional activation in mammalian cells (Langley et al., 2002; Luo et al., 2001; Vaziri et al., 2001), providing evidence that SIRT1, at least in part, may play a role in transcriptional repression of specific genes. Although various *in vitro* inhibitors of SIRT isozymes have been described, the catalytic activity of class III HDACs is not inhibited by TSA but may be inhibited by nicotinamide, a product of the SIRT-mediated deacetylation reaction (Bitterman et al., 2002; Grozinger et al., 2001; Imai et al., 2000).

Although CTIPs repress transcription in a TSA-insensitive manner (Avram et al., 2000; Avram et al., 2002), we found that transient transfection of CTIP2 resulted in deacetylation of histone H3 and/or H4 that were associated with the promoter region of a target gene. Subsequently, we found that nicotinamide reversed both CTIP2-mediated transcriptional repression and deacetylation of promoter-associated histone H3/H4 in CTIP2-transfected cells. These findings led us to investigate the possibility that a class III HDAC may be involved in CTIP-mediated transcriptional repression. CTIP2 and the class III HDAC SIRT1 co-immunoprecipitated from extracts of transfected, co-transfected and untransfected cells, and the two proteins were shown to interact directly in vitro. Moreover, SIRT1 potentiated both transcriptional repression and histone H3/H4 deacetylation in cells transfected with CTIP2. These findings suggest a role for the NAD⁺dependent histone deacetylase SIRT1 in the transcriptional repression activity of CTIP2 in mammalian cells.

2.3 Materials and Methods

2.3.1 Constructs

The (17-mer)₄-tk-CAT reporter construct was a kind gift from Dr. Ming-jer Tsai (Baylor College of Medicine). Flag-CTIP2 construct was prepared by PCR amplification of the CTIP2 open reading frame (Avram et al., 2000) with appropriate primers and insertion into pcDNA3(+) The Gal4 DBD-CTIP2 construct was prepared by PCR (Invitrogen). amplification with appropriate primers followed by insertion into a commercially available vector (pM; Clontech). Myc-SIRT1, Myc-SIRT1 H363Y and GST-SIRT1 constructs (Langley et al., 2002) were kind gifts from Dr. T. Kouzarides (University of Cambridge, Cambridge, UK). All vectors encoding GST fusion proteins were prepared by PCR amplification of appropriate templates followed by insertion into pGEX-2T (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech). The constructs used for generating [³⁵S]methioninelabeled proteins were prepared by PCR amplification with primers containing appropriate restriction sites for insertion into pcDNA3(+) or pcDNA3.1/His (Invitrogen). All constructs were verified by complete DNA sequencing.

2.3.2 Antibodies

The rabbit anti-SIRT1 antibody was described previously (Langley et al., 2002). Purified rabbit anti-Sir2α (which cross-reacts with human SIRT1; data not shown), and anti-acetylated-histone H3 and - histone H4 were obtained from Upstate. Mouse anti-Flag and -Myc monoclonal antibodies were purchased from Sigma and Oncogene, respectively. The rat anti-CTIP2 monoclonal antibody (25B6) was raised against a recombinant GST fusion protein by Dr. Michael Marusich (Monoclonal Antibody Facility, Institute for Neuroscience, University of Oregon, Eugene, Oregon). Epitope mapping has revealed that the 25B6 anti-CTIP2 monoclonal antibody recognizes an antigen within the 150 amino acids located at the extreme amino terminus of the protein (CTIP2 1-150; unpublished results)

2.3.3 Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assays

ChIP assays were performed on transfected cells essentially as described by the Dean laboratory (Luo et al., 1998) with slight modifications. HEK293 cells were co-transfected at 60% confluency (10 cm plates) with 5 μ g of the (17-mer)₄-tk-CAT reporter, 1.5-10 μ g of Gal4-CTIP2, 0.5 μ g of Myc-SIRT1, and/or the parent control vectors using the calcium

phosphate method. After 48 h, cells were washed twice with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and cross-linked with 1% formaldehyde in PBS at room temperature. Cells were washed twice with ice-cold PBS buffer and collected in harvesting buffer (100 mM Tris-HCl, pH 9.4 containing 10 mM The cells were lysed in lysis buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.1 DTT). containing 1% SDS, 10 mM EDTA, and a protease inhibitor cocktail). The sonicated lysates were then cleared by centrifugation and diluted 2.5-fold with ChIP dilution buffer (16.7 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.1 containing 0.01% SDS, 1.1% Triton X-100, 1.2 mM EDTA, 167 mM NaCl, and a protease inhibitor cocktail). One tenth of the diluted lysate was reserved as an input sample to determine total amount of reporter plasmid in transfected cells for subsequent normalization procedures. Two equal aliquots of the remaining lysate were used for immunoprecipitation with and without the addition of antibodies against K9-, K16- di-acetylated histone H3, and K5-, K8-, K12-, K16-tetra-acetylated histone H4 (Upstate; 5 µg of each antibody per immunoprecipitation reaction). Immune complexes were recovered with Protein A sepharose (Amersham Pharmacia) and washed under stringent conditions. Chromatin complexes were eluted with the freshly prepared elution buffer (0.1 M NaHCO₃ containing 1% SDS). The eluates and the above input samples were subjected to an overnight reversal of cross-links at 65°C, followed by a treatment with Proteinase K at 45°C for 1 h. DNA was recovered by using a Nucleospin PCR Extraction Kit (Clontech) and

amplified using a forward primer (5'-GGCATCAGAGCAGATTGTACT-3') upstream of the multimerized 17-mer and a reverse primer (5'-CCTTAGCTCCTGAAAATCTCG-3') downstream of the tk promoter but upstream of the transcriptional start site. The resulting PCR product (327 bp) was analyzed by agarose gel electrophoresis and ethidium bromide staining. Experiments were performed three to five times.

2.3.4 Transfection and reporter

HEK293 cells were transfected and harvested as described above. Where indicated, TSA (100 ng/mL) and nicotinamide (10 mM) treatments were initiated 24 h after transfection, and cells were harvested 24 h later. A β -galactosidase expression vector (pCMV-Sport- β Gal, Life Technologies) was cotransfected as an internal control, and β galactosidase activity was used to normalized CAT activity as described (Dowell et al., 1997a).

2.3.5 Coimmunoprecipitation

HEK293 cells were transfected as described above with 10 μg each of expression vectors encoding Flag-CTIP2 and/or Myc-SIRT1. Fortyeight hours after transfection the cells were lysed in NET-N buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8 containing 150 mM NaCl, 0.5% NP-40, 10% glycerol, 1 mM EDTA, and a protease inhibitor cocktail) by agitation at 4°C for 30 min. After a brief sonication, lysates were cleared by centrifugation, and immunoprecipitated as described previously (Nevrivy et al., 2000) using the antibodies described above. Nuclear extracts from Jurkat cells were prepared using standard techniques (Dignam et al., 1983), and immunoprecipitated (500 μ g of protein per reaction) with purified anti-CTIP2 monoclonal (2 μ g) or anti-Sir2 α (0.5 - 2.5 μ g) antibodies. All immunoprecipitates were analyzed by immunoblotting with appropriate antibodies.

2.3.6 GST pulldown experiment

GST pulldown experiments were conducted as described previously (Dowell et al., 1997b). Briefly, equivalent amounts of GST or GST-SIRT1 fusion proteins were bound to glutathione-sepharose (Pharmacia) and incubated with [³⁵S]methionine-labeled proteins (CTIP2 or CTIP2 truncation mutants) prepared using TNT transcription-translation system (Promega). The reactions were washed five times with binding buffer (10 mM Na-HEPES containing 10% glycerol, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM DTT, 150 mM NaCl and 0.05% NP-40) and bound proteins were eluted and resolved on denaturing SDS-PAGE gels for analysis by autoradiography.

2.3.7 Column chromatography

Nuclear extracts were prepared from 30 L of Jurkat cells (~1.5 x 10¹⁰ cells; provided by the National Cell Culture Center, Minneapolis) using the Dignam method (Dignam et al., 1983) with the following minor modifications: Buffer C contained 720 mM NaCl instead of 420 mM, and Buffer D was replaced with Buffer 100 (20 mM HEPES, pH 7.9; 100 mM NaCl, 0.2 mM EDTA, 0.5 mM DTT and 10% glycerol). CTIP2 immunoreactivity was found only in the nuclear fraction using this protocol (data not shown). Jurkat nuclear extract (100 mg protein) was applied to a 1.5 x 8 cm phosphocellulose P11 column (Whatman) that had been equilibrated in Buffer 100 and running at 80 mL/hr. The column was washed with Buffer 100 until the A_{280} returned to baseline and then eluted in a stepwise fashion with Buffer 100 containing 300, 600, and 1000 mM NaCl. The A_{280} of the eluate was allowed to return to baseline at each step. CTIP2 and SIRT1 immunoreactivities were analyzed in the step fractions by immunoblotting with appropriate antibodies and chemiluminescence detection. The 600 mM step off the phosphocellulose column (16 mg of protein), was dialysed against Buffer 100 and loaded onto a 2.5 mL DEAE-Biogel A column (Biorad) that had been equilibrated with Buffer 100. After collecting the flow-through fraction, the column was eluted with Buffer 100 containing 200, 400, and 1000 mM NaCl in a stepwise fashion, and the steps were analyzed by immunoblotting as described above. The 200 mM

step off the DEAE column, which contained both CTIP2 and SIRT1 immunoreactivity, was concentrated to 1 mL (3.1 mg of protein) using a Milipore Ultrafree centrifugal filter device (30 kDa nominal molecular weight limit), and loaded onto a 1.6 x 90 cm Superose 6 size exclusion column (Pharmacia) that was running at a flow rate of 0.4 mL/min. The Superose 6 column had been previously equilibrated with Buffer 100 and calibrated with protein standards (thyroglobulin 669 kDa; catalase, 232 kDa; bovine serum albumin, 67 kDa; blue dextran, 2000 kDa; all from Pharmacia). Fractions (5.0 min., 2.0 mL) were analyzed for the presence of CTIP2 and SIRT1 by immunoblotting.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 CTIP2-mediated transcriptional repression is partially reversed by nicotinamide, an inhibitor of NAD⁺-dependent deacetylases

Previous studies indicated that CTIP1-mediated transcriptional repression was independent of TSA-sensitive histone deacetylation (Avram et al., 2000; Avram et al., 2002). In the present study, transcriptional repression mediated by a Gal4-CTIP2 fusion protein was found to be similarly insensitive to reversal with TSA in HEK293 cells (Fig. 2.1A, compare *lanes* 4 and 5 with 7 and 8). Considered together, these findings

suggest that neither CTIP1- nor CTIP2-mediated transcriptional repression involves recruitment of class I or class II TSA-sensitive HDACs to the template. However, nicotinamide (NAM), an inhibitor of NAD⁺-dependent, class III HDACs, such as the SIRT family of proteins (Frye, 1999; Frye, 2000), was found to inhibit CTIP2-mediated transcriptional repression, at least partially (~70% reversal of repression; Fig. 2.1A, compare lanes 7 and 9 with lane 4).

These data indicated a possible role of a nicotinamide-sensitive HDAC(s) in the transcriptional repression mechanism of CTIP2 in mammalian cells. If true, transfection of Gal4-CTIP2 would be expected to result in recruitment of a nicotinamide-sensitive HDAC(s) to the template and deacetylation of template-associated histones. This hypothesis was tested by conducting chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) studies in transiently transfected cells. Although the nature and/or extent of chromatin formation on transiently transfected templates likely differs from that of



CTIP2-mediated transcriptional repression is partially Figure 2.1. reversed by nicotinamide, an inhibitor of NAD⁺-dependent **deacetylases.** HEK293 cells were transiently transfected with 5 μ g of the (17-mer)₄-tk-CAT reporter along with 1.5 µg of expression vectors encoding either Gal4-CTIP2 or Gal4 DBD as indicated. Twenty-four hours after transfection, cells were treated or not (solid bars) with histone deacetylase inhibitors, TSA (100 ng/ml; open bars) and nicotinamide (NAM, 10 mM; hatched bars), for 24 h before collection. Transfection efficiency was normalized by β -galactosidase activity produced by a cotransfected β galactosidase expression vector. CAT activity determined in the presence of Gal4 DBD and TSA (lane 5) was taken to be maximal and that against which all other determined CAT activities were compared. The results presented represent the mean $(\pm S.E.M.)$ of three independent experimental determinations.

chromosomal genes, Dean and colleagues have previously validated ChIP studies in transiently transfected cells and used this approach to demonstrate HDAC-dependent and -independent transcriptional repression mediated by the Rb protein (Luo et al., 1998). Thus, a similar approach was employed in the present study toward the goal of determining if histone deacetylation may underlie CTIP2-mediated transcriptional repression in mammalian cells. Alterations in the levels of acetylated histone H3/H4 associated with the template (a multimerized 17mer-tk-CAT construct) were not observed at the lowest amount of Gal4-CTIP2 transfected (upper panel of Fig. 2.2, compare lanes 10 with 12). However, transfection of increasing amounts of Gal4-CTIP2 dramatically reduced the level of acetylated histone H3/H4 associated with the template (upper panel of Fig. 2.2, compare lanes 10, 12, 14, 16), and this was unaffected by treatment of the transfected cells with TSA (lanes 10-14 of the middle panel of Fig. 2.2). However, the deacetylation of template-associated histories observed in CTIP2transfected cells was partially reversed by treatment of the cells with nicotinamide (compare lanes 10-14 of the top and bottom panels of Fig. Although inhibition of the deacetylation of promoter-associated 2.2). histone H3 and/or H4 by treatment of the CTIP2-transfected cells with 10 mM nicotinamide was obvious, complete reversal was not observed (compare lanes 10 and 16 of the bottom panel of Fig. 2.2). This



Figure 2.2. Nicotinamide-sensitive histone deacetylation underlies CTIP2-mediated transcriptional repression. HEK293 cells were transfected with 5 µg of (17-mer)₄-tk-CAT reporter and increasing amounts (2.5, 5.0, and 10 µg) of an expression vector encoding Gal4-CTIP2 as indicated. The treatments with TSA and NAM were carried out as described Transfection efficiency was normalized by total amount of the above. transfected (17-mer)₄-tk-CAT reporter as determined by PCR amplification (input lanes 3-6; 2.5% of total). Lanes 7-16 represent template amplification reactions from samples immunoprecipitated with or without antibodies specific for acetylated histone H3/H4 as indicated. Amplification reactions were separated on a 1% agarose gel that was stained with ethidium bromide to visualize DNA products. The indicated band is the expected, 327 bp amplification product from the reporter gene template. Lane 1 corresponds to a positive control in which the reporter plasmid was used as the template. Results are representative of three independent experiments.

may be due to the relative lack of efficacy of nicotinamide as an inhibitor of NAD⁺-dependent deacetylases and/or insufficient intracellular levels of nicotinamide in treated cells. Concentrations of nicotinamide above 10 mM appeared to result in cellular toxicity, thus, precluding the use of very high levels of nicotinamide. Nonetheless, these findings, which are consistent with transcriptional repression studies (Fig. 2.1), further demonstrate that nicotinamide-sensitive histone deacetylation may underlie the mechanistic basis of CTIP2-mediated transcriptional repression in transiently transfected HEK293 cells.

2.4.2 CTIP2 interacts with and recruits SIRT1 to the promoter template in mammalian cells

The above results indicate that a member(s) of class III HDACs may be associated with and mediates the transcriptional repression activity of CTIP2 in mammalian cells. To investigate this, co-immunoprecipitation experiments were conducted using extracts prepared from HEK293 cells transiently transfected with an expression vector encoding Flag epitopetagged CTIP2 (Flag-CTIP2). Flag-CTIP2 was immunoprecipitated with endogenous SIRT1 by anti-SIRT1 antibody (Fig. 2.3A, Iane 6) but not by pre-immune serum (Iane 5). This finding demonstrates that transfected CTIP2 directly or indirectly interacts with endogenous SIRT1 in HEK293 cells.



Figure 2.3. CTIP2 interacts with and recruits SIRT1 to the promoter template in mammalian cells. A, Flag-CTIP2 coimmunoprecipitates with endogenous SIRT1 from HEK293 cell lysates. Whole cell extracts from HEK293 cells, untransfected and transiently transfected with expression vectors encoding Flag-CTIP2, were immunoprecipitated with either anti-SIRT1 or pre-immune sera, and the immunocomplexes were analyzed by immunoblotting with anti-CTIP2 antibody. The position of Flag-CTIP2 is indicated. B, Endogenous SIRT1 is recruited to promoter template of the reporter gene upon expression of Gal4-CTIP2. HEK293 cells were transfected with 5 µg of (17-mer)₄-tk-CAT reporter and 10 µg of expression vectors encoding either Gal4-CTIP2 or Gal4 DBD. Transfection efficiency was normalized as described in the legend of Fig. 2.2 (input lanes 2 and 3; 2.5% of total). Lanes 4-7 represent template amplification reactions from samples immunoprecipitated with or without antibody directed against SIRT1. Results are representative of three independent experiments.

A

ChIP experiments were conducted to determine if endogenous SIRT1 was recruited to the promoter template in cells transfected with a Gal4-CTIP2 expression vector. SIRT1 was not associated with the template in cells transfected with Gal4 DBD (Fig. 2.3B, lane 5). However, recruitment of endogenous SIRT1 to the template was apparent in cells expressing Gal4-CTIP2 (Fig. 2.3B, lane 7). These data demonstrate CTIP2-dependent recruitment of endogenous SIRT1 to the promoter template in HEK293 cells, and further suggest a role for this histone deacetylase in the transcriptional repression mechanism of CTIP2.

2.4.3 SIRT1 enhances CTIP2-mediated transcriptional repression

Reporter gene assays were carried out in transiently transfected HEK293 cells to determine if SIRT1 enhances CTIP2-mediated transcriptional repression. First, the interaction of the co-overexpressed proteins was verified by co-immunoprecipitation experiments using Flag-CTIP2 and Myc-SIRT1. Flag-CTIP2 was immunoprecipitated by the anti-Myc antibody but only when Myc-SIRT1 was co-expressed (compare lanes 5 and 6 of Fig. 2.4*A*). Similarly, Flag-CTIP2 was immunoprecipitated with a Myc-tagged, catalytically inactive SIRT1 point mutant, Myc-SIRT1 H363Y (Langley et al., 2002; Luo et al., 2001), to an extent similar to that of the wild-type protein (lane 6 of Fig. 2.4B). These findings,



Figure 2.4. **CTIP2 interacts with SIRT1 in HEK 293 cells.** *A*, Flag-CTIP2 coimmunoprecipitates with Myc-SIRT1. Whole cell extracts from HEK293 cells, untransfected and transiently transfected with the indicated expression vectors, were immunoprecipitated with anti-Myc monoclonal antibody. Immunoprecipitates were resolved by SDS-PAGE and analyzed by western blotting with anti-Flag monoclonal antibody that detects Flag-CTIP2. The position of Flag-CTIP2 is indicated. *B*, Flag-CTIP2 coimmunoprecipitates with the catalytically inactive Myc-SIRT1 H363Y. Transfections, immunoprecipitations, and immunoblots were conducted as described under *A*.

which are consistent with results presented in Figs. 2.3A and B, confirm that transfected CTIP2 interacts with both wild-type SIRT1 and a catalytically inactive form, SIRT1 H363Y, in mammalian cells. The functional consequence of these interactions was investigated in cells transiently cotransfected with expression vectors encoding Gal4-CTIP2, the (17-mer)₄-tk-CAT reporter, and either Myc-SIRT1 WT or SIRT1 H363Y. Both wild-type SIRT1 and SIRT1 H363Y repressed reporter gene expression in a concentration-dependent manner in the absence of Gal4-CTIP2 (Fig. 2.5, lanes 3-5 and 7-9, respectively). Although the mechanistic basis for recruitment of SIRT1 to the template under these conditions is unknown, these findings, which are consistent with previous reports (Langley et al., 2002), demonstrate that the catalytic activity of the enzyme is not required for repression of the basal level of reporter gene expression. In contrast, the catalytic activity of SIRT1 was required for enhancement of CTIP2mediated transcriptional repression. Co-transfection of wild-type SIRT1 stimulated transcriptional repression mediated by Gal4-CTIP2 in a concentration-dependent (Fig. 2.5, Ianes 10-13) but TSA-insensitive (data not shown) manner, whereas SIRT1 H363Y did not enhance CTIP2mediated repression (lanes 14-17). These findings demonstrate that the co-transfected SIRT1 stimulates the transcriptional repression activity of CTIP2 and this requires the catalytic activity of the enzyme.



Figure 2.5. **SIRT1 enhances CTIP2-mediated transcriptional repression.** Wild-type SIRT1, but not SIRT1 H363Y, stimulates CTIP2mediated transcriptional repression. HEK293 cells were transiently transfected with 5 μ g of the (17-mer)₄-tk-CAT reporter along with 1.5 μ g of expression vectors encoding either Gal4-CTIP2 or Gal4 DBD, and increasing amounts (0.125, 0.25, and 0.5 μ g) of expression vectors encoding either SIRT1 WT or SIRT1 H363Y, as indicated. Transfection efficiency was normalized as described in the legend of Fig. 2.1. The activity of the CAT reporter in the presence of Gal4 DBD alone (lane 2) was taken to be maximal and that against which all other determined CAT activities were compared. The results presented represent the mean (\pm S.E.M.) of three independent experimental determinations.

ChIP assays were conducted to determine if histone deacetylation may underlie the molecular basis for the observed stimulation of CTIP2-mediated transcriptional repression by SIRT1. The amounts of transfected expression vectors used in these studies were titrated downward to levels at which neither CTIP2 (upper panel of Fig. 2.6, lane 12; 1.5 µg transfected) nor SIRT1 (upper panel, lane 14; 0.5 µg transfected) independently affected the acetylation level of promoter-associated histone H3/H4 to an appreciable degree. This was necessary as both Gal4-CTIP2 (Fig. 2.2) and SIRT1 (data not shown) individually decreased acetylation of histone H3/H4 when transfected at higher levels. Under the experimental conditions employed, co-transfection of Gal4-CTIP2 and SIRT1 resulted in a large decrease in the level of acetylated histone H3/H4 that was associated with the reporter gene template and this effect was clearly greater than that observed by transfection of either expression vector individually (compare lanes 10, 12, 14, and 16 of the upper panel of Fig. 2.6). The catalytically inactive point mutant, SIRT1 H363Y, did not enhance deacetylation of promoter-associated histones H3/H4 in cells transfected with Gal4-CTIP2 (compare lanes 10, 12, 14, and 16 of the bottom panel of These findings suggest that SIRT1-catalyzed histone Fig. 2.6). deacetylation may underlie, at least in part, the ability of the enzyme to stimulate CTIP2-mediated transcriptional repression.



Figure 2.6. SIRT1 stimulates deacetylation of template-associated histones H3 and/or H4 in CTIP2-transfected cells. HEK293 cells were transfected with 5 μ g of the (17-mer)₄-tk-CAT reporter along with expression vectors encoding Gal4-CTIP2 (1.5 μ g) and SIRT1 WT or SIRT1 H363Y (0.5 μ g) as indicated. Acetylated histones H3 and H4 were determined by a ChIP assay as described in experimental procedures. Transfection efficiency was normalized as described in the legend of Fig. 2.2. Input lanes (3-6) correspond to amplification reactions conducted using 3.75% (upper panel) and 1.0% (lower panel) of the lysates used for IP reactions. Lanes 7-16 represent template amplification reactions from samples immunoprecipitated with or without anti-acetylated histone H3/H4 antibodies as indicated. Results are representative of three independent experiments.

2.4.4 CTIP2 interacts directly with SIRT1 in vitro

The co-immunoprecipitation experiments presented above (Figs. 2.3A, 2.4A, and 2.4B) indicated that CTIP2 and SIRT1 associate with similar complexes in transfected cells. However, these studies are incapable of distinguishing between direct physical interaction and indirect association resulting from interaction with a common, intermediary protein(s) within a complex of proteins. Thus, in vitro GST pulldown experiments were conducted to determine if CTIP2 interacts directly with SIRT1. Full-length CTIP2 (CTIP2 1-813) was found to interact with fulllength SIRT1 fused to GST (Fig. 2.7, lane 3), but not with GST alone (lane These results demonstrate that CTIP2 and SIRT1 participate in a direct. physical interaction. The use of a series of CTIP2 deletion mutants (see Fig. 2.7) revealed that the SIRT1 interaction interface is contained within CTIP2 amino acids 171-350 (Fig. 2.7, lane 3 of panel E). All CTIP2 deletion mutants containing this region strongly interacted with GST-SIRT1 (Fig. 2.7, lane 3 of panels A, B, D, and E) but mutants lacking it interacted weakly or not at all (Fig. 2.7, lane 3 of panels C and F-I). Thus, CTIP2 171-350, a region that is relatively rich in proline, but devoid of C₂H₂ zinc finger motifs (Avram et al., 2000), appears to be primarily responsible for interaction with SIRT1 in vitro.

The CTIP2 interaction interface of SIRT1 was similarly mapped by deletion mutagenesis (Fig. 2.8*A*). Based on the crystal structure of



Figure 2.7. The proline-rich region of CTIP2 mediates the interaction with SIRT1 in vitro. In vitro translated and [³⁵S]Met-labeled full-length CTIP2 and truncation CTIP2 mutants were incubated with equivalent amounts of bacterially expressed GST (lane 2) or GST-SIRT1 fusion protein (lane 3). After extensive washing, [³⁵S]Met-labeled CTIP2 associated with the affinity resin was determined by SDS-PAGE and autoradiography. Input [³⁵S]Met-labeled proteins are shown in lane 1. CTIP2 truncation mutants used in these studies (panels B-I) are schematically represented on the right with zinc finger motifs denoted by vertical bars. Results are representative of 3-5 independent experiments.
SIRT2 (Finnin et al., 2001), we generated three deletion mutants of SIRT1 (see Fig. 2.8A): the amino terminal region, the centrally located sirtuin homology domain, and the carboxyl terminus, all of which were fused to GST for use in in vitro pulldown experiments. CTIP2 171-350 weakly interacted with the amino terminal region of SIRT1 (residues 1-214; Fig. 2.8B, lane 4) but did not interact with the carboxyl terminus (residues 541-747; lane 6). However, CTIP2 171-350 interacted strongly with the SIRT1 sirtuin homology domain (residues 214-541; Fig. 2.8B, lane 5). Two additional deletion mutants within the sirtuin homology domain were constructed to map the CTIP2 interaction interface more precisely, SIRT1 214-441 and SIRT1 441-541 (see Fig. 2.8A). CTIP2 171-350 was found to interact primarily with SIRT1 214-441 (Fig. 2.8B, lane 7), and less so with SIRT1 441-541 (lane 8). Thus, these results suggest that CTIP2 interacts primarily with a portion of the SIRT1 sirtuin homology domain that overlaps, at least partially, with the catalytic domain of the enzyme. Collectively, these results suggest that CTIP2 and SIRT1 interact directly in vitro and this interaction requires the proline-rich region of CTIP2 (amino acids 171-350) and residues within the amino terminal part of the sirtuin homology domain of SIRT1.



Figure 2.8. The sirtuin homology domain of SIRT1 mediates the interaction with CTIP2 in vitro A, A schematic representation of full-length SIRT1 and SIRT1 truncation mutants used to generate GST-SIRT1 fusion proteins for in vitro pulldown experiments (see below). *B*, [³⁵S]Met-labeled CTIP2 171-350 (the minimal SIRT1-interaction domain or proline-rich region) was incubated with equivalent amounts of GST (lane 2) or GST-SIRT1 fusion proteins (lanes 3-8). The position of bound [³⁵S]Met-labeled CTIP2 171-350 is indicated by an arrow on the left. Lane 1 corresponds to 10% of the [³⁵S]Met-labeled CTIP2 171-350 that was incubated with GST or GST-SIRT1 fusion proteins. Results are representative of 3-5 independent experiments.

62

2.4.5 CTIP2 and SIRT1 are components of a large complex in Jurkat cell nuclear extracts

The above co-immunoprecipitation studies were performed using transiently transfected cells overexpressing CTIP2. However, it is important to verify that endogenous CTIP2 and SIRT1 interact in the cellular context, i.e., in the absence of overexpression. To test this possibility, nuclear extracts (NE) were prepared from untransfected Jurkat cells, which express both CTIP2 (Fig. 2.9A, lane 1) and SIRT1 (data not shown) endogenously. Endogenous human CTIP2 was co-immunoprecipitated with SIRT1 by both the purified anti-Sir2 α antibody (Fig. 2.9A, lane 3), and anti-SIRT1 antiserum (data not shown), but not by an irrelevant antibody (anti-HA, lane 4) or control IgG (lane 5). Similar results were obtained when the precipitating and detecting antibodies were reversed (data not shown). These findings demonstrate that endogenous CTIP2 and SIRT1 physically associate with similar complexes in the nuclei of mammalian cells when expressed at physiological levels.

Jurkat cell nuclear extracts were then fractionated to characterize the nature of CTIP2 complexes. First, Jurkat cell NE was applied to a P11 phosphocellulose column, which was then eluted in a step-wise fashion with increasing salt. CTIP2 immunoreactivity was eluted in the 600 mM step (Fig. 2.9B, lane 4 of the upper panel), although lesser amounts of CTIP2 could be detected in the 1000 mM step with longer exposures of the blot

Figure 2.9. CTIP2 and SIRT1 are components of a large complex in Jurkat cell nuclear extracts. A. Endogenous CTIP2 and SIRT1 interact in Jurkat cell nuclear extracts. Nuclear extracts prepared from Jurkat cells were immunoprecipitated with no antibody, anti-Sir2 α or irrelevant antibodies (anti-HA or goat-IgG). The immunocomplexes were then analyzed by western blotting with anti-CTIP2 antibody. The positions of two forms of endogenous human CTIP2 are indicated, which may correspond to two CTIP2 transcripts present in Jurkat cells as previously reported (Bernard et al., 2001). B, Fractionation of CTIP2 and SIRT1 immunoreactivity on a P11 phosphocellulose column. Jurkat cell nuclear extract was applied to a phosphocellulose column, eluted, and eluates from this column were analyzed by immunoblotting as described in experimental procedures. Each lane of the gel contained 10 µg of protein except lane 5 in which 2.5 µg of protein was loaded. Shown is an autoradiograph from the chemiluminescent detection of CTIP2 (upper panel) and SIRT1 (lower panel). C, Fractionation of PC600 on a DEAE column. The 600 mM step off the phosphocellulose column (PC600) was applied to a DEAE Biogel A column and eluted stepwise with increasing salt. Steps (6-8 µg of protein per lane) were analyzed for the presence of CTIP2 and SIRT1 immunoreactivity as described above. D-E, Fractionation of DEAE200 on Superose 6 size-exclusion column. The 200 mM step off the DEAE column (DEAE200) was applied to Superose 6 column and the column was eluted isocratically in Buffer 100. The chromatographic elution profile of this column is shown in D, while the upper and lower panels of E respectively correspond to immunodetection of CTIP2 and SIRT1 in the fractions (fraction numbers are indicated between the CTIP2 and SIRT1 immunoblots; equal volumes from each fraction were analyzed). The positions of elution of calibrating proteins are indicated by downward arrows in both D and E. F. Co-immunoprecipitation of SIRT1 and CTIP2 in the Superose 6 purified fractions. Fractions 14-18 from the Superose 6 column shown in D-E were pooled, immunoprecipitated with an antibody that recognizes SIRT1, and the immunoprecipitate was analyzed for the presence of CTIP2 as described under A.



Fig. 2.9

(data not shown). In contrast, the majority of the SIRT1 immunoreactivity appeared in the flow-through of the phosphocellulose column (Fig. 2.9B, lane 2 of the lower panel). These findings suggest that most of SIRT1 in Jurkat cell nuclei does not exist within CTIP2 complexes, at least when subjected to the chromatographic conditions utilized in this study. This would be consistent with the notion that SIRT1 plays multiple cellular roles. many of which appear to be independent of CTIP2. Nonetheless, a small amount of SIRT1 did co-chromatograph with CTIP2 within the 600 mM step off the phosphocellulose fraction and this material was then dialyzed and applied to a DEAE column to fractionate the CTIP2 immunoreactivity Both CTIP2 (upper panel) and SIRT1 (lower panel) further. immunoreactivity eluted in the 200 mM step off the DEAE column (Fig. 2.9C, lane 2). The DEAE-purified material was then applied to a Superose 6 sizing column in order to determine the relative molecular masses of CTIP2 and SIRT1 complexes. CTIP2 was eluted from the Superose 6 column as a sharp peak with a relative mass approximately between 1 and 2 mDa (Fig. 2.9D and upper panel of Fig. 2.9E, fractions 7-19). In contrast, SIRT1 was eluted as a broad peak beginning at 2 mDa and ending at approximately 232 kDa (lower panel of Fig. 2.9E, fractions 7-31). These size-exclusion chromatography results demonstrate that: (1) native CTIP2 migrated at least 10-fold larger than the predicted size of the monomeric protein (95.5 and 88.5 kDa, respectively, for the CTIP2 splice variants), (2)

SIRT1 appeared to be present in heterogenous complex(es), some of which corresponded to CTIP2 immunoreactivity (lower panel of Fig. 2.9E, fractions 7-19), others that clearly did not (fractions 21-31), and all of which migrated much larger than the predicted size of the monomeric SIRT1 (81.7 kDa). Fractions containing both CTIP2 and SIRT1 immunoreactivity were pooled and immunoprecipitated with the SIRT1 antibody. The immunoprecipitate was analyzed by immunoblotting with the CTIP2 antibody to verify that CTIP2 and SIRT1 co-existed within a similar complex in this partially purified preparation. Indeed, CTIP2 was found to co-immunoprecipitate with the SIRT1 (Fig. 2.9F, lane 2), indicating the CTIP2-SIRT1 interaction that was observed in Jurkat cell nuclear extracts (Fig. 2.9A) was maintained through a high-salt extraction and three sequential chromatographic steps.

2.5 Discussion

The combinatorial, covalent modification of histones, including acetylation, methylation, phosphorylation, and ubiquitination has been proposed to underlie the mechanistic basis of dynamic transcriptional regulation from yeast to man. In general, histone acetylation, phosphorylation and ubiquitination are believed to promote decondensation of chromatin and have been implicated in the mode of action of transcriptional activators (Jenuwein and Allis, 2001). The transcriptional outcome of histone methylation, including mono-, di-, and tri-methylation of lysine residues located primarily in the tails of histones H3 and H4, is more complex and can either promote activation (Santos-Rosa et al., 2002) or repression (Lachner and Jenuwein, 2002; Lachner et al., 2001) in a context-dependent manner. In contrast, many transcriptional repressors, including unliganded nuclear receptors and members of numerous other transcription factor families, have been shown to recruit TSA-sensitive HDACs to the template, resulting in condensation of chromatin and transcriptional silencing (Struhl, 1998). In most of these cases, the HDACs recruited to the template of RNA polymerase II-transcribed genes by transcriptional repressors have been shown or suspected to be either class I or II HDACs (Hermanson et al., 2002).

We have previously observed that CTIP1 (Avram et al., 2000), a member of a novel family of C_2H_2 zinc finger proteins, repressed transcription of a reporter gene in a manner that was only minimally sensitive to reversal by TSA. Similar findings were reported herein for CTIP2 (Fig. 2.1). However, CTIP2-mediated transcriptional repression was found to be inhibited, at least partially, by nicotinamide (NAM), an inhibitor of the NAD⁺-dependent, class III HDACs of the SIRT family. Consistent with these findings, expression of CTIP2 in HEK293 cells resulted in recruitment of SIRT1 to the promoter template, and deacetylation of template-associated histones H3/H4 in a manner that was unaffected by TSA but reversed by NAM. Moreover, co-expression of SIRT1, but not a catalytically inactive point mutant, was found to enhance CTIP2-mediated transcriptional repression in transiently transfected cells. The possibility that SIRT1 plays a role in CTIP2-mediated transcriptional repression was given strong support by the finding that the two proteins interacted directly and co-immunoprecipitated from extracts prepared from both co-transfected and singly transfected HEK293 cells, as well as non-transfected Jurkat cells. Finally, SIRT1 partially co-purified with CTIP2 over three chromatographic steps, and the apparent mass of this SIRT1-containing, CTIP2 complex was estimated to be between 1 and 2 mDa, indicating the possible existence of several other component proteins.

To our knowledge, the results of ChIP assays conducted herein provide the first cellular evidence that SIRT1 is capable of deacetylating histones H3 and H4, histones that play a key role in transcriptional regulatory events (Guarente, 2000; Zhang and Reinberg, 2001). Although the chromatin organization of transiently transfected DNA templates may differ from that of their chromosomal counterparts (Smith and Hager, 1997), the effect of TSA on basal CAT activity (Fig. 2.1), and the observed decrease in template-associated, acetylated histone H3/H4 as determined by ChIP analyses (Figs. 2.2 and 2.6) indicated that the transiently transfected reporter template adopted some form of chromatin structure. This finding is also supported by previous reports (Cereghini and Yaniv, 1984; Luo et al., 1998; Reeves et al., 1985).

The proline-rich region of CTIP2, which harbors an autonomous transcriptional repression activity (Avram, et. al., submitted), was found to interact with the centrally located sirtuin homology domain of SIRT1 (see Figs. 2.8*A* and *B*). Because the sirtuin homology domain is highly conserved among all SIRT proteins, it is conceivable that other members of sirtuin family may also serve as an alternative CTIP2-interacting partner(s). If this is true, one may envision that other SIRT proteins may play a role(s) in CTIP2-mediated transcriptional repression, perhaps in different cellular and/or promoter contexts. Similarly, the proline-rich region of CTIP2 is also present and highly conserved in CTIP1 (69% identity over 138 amino acids) and may also be expected to interact with SIRT proteins. Indeed, we have also observed that CTIP1 interacts directly with SIRT1 in vitro and in transfected cells (unpublished results).

Other C₂H₂ zinc finger proteins, such as the Kruppel-associated box (KRAB) protein Kox1, have also been reported to repress transcription in a TSA-insensitive manner (de Haan et al., 2000; Lorenz et al., 2001). Transcriptional repression by KRAB zinc finger proteins requires interaction with KRAB domain binding protein, KAP-1, which in turn may recruit members of heterochromatin protein 1 (HP1) family to the template (Lechner et al., 2000; Ryan et al., 1999). These findings suggest a role for

HP1 proteins and heterochromatin formation in transcriptional repression mediated by KRAB•KAP-1 complexes. While none of these studies addressed the potential role of TSA-insensitive histone deacetylation, possibly catalyzed by a SIRT family member, in transcriptional repression and/or heterochromatinization mediated by KRAB•KAP-1 complexes, deacetylation of H3-K9 is required at the initial step of heterochromatin formation (Zhang and Reinberg, 2001). This is believed to be followed by SUV39H-catalyzed methylation of H3-K9, which provides a binding surface for HP1 proteins that bind and self-assemble into a supramolecular, heterochromatinized template (Lachner et al., 2001). Therefore, it is of interest that we have also observed a potential role for HP1 proteins in CTIP-mediated transcriptional repression (Rohr et al., 2003). In this context, CTIPs may serve to recruit SIRT1 (or other SIRT family members) to a particular genomic locus, either by direct DNA binding or via tethering to a COUP-TF family member. Once recruited to the template, SIRT1 may catalyze histone deacetylation, ultimately leading to HP1 binding, heterochromatin formation, and gene silencing. Verification of this model will require identification of all of the component proteins of the CTIP repressor complex(es) bound to the promoter regions of target genes.

In summary, the present results strongly suggest that CTIP2-mediated transcriptional repression involves the recruitment of SIRT1 to the template, at which the TSA-insensitive, NAD⁺-dependent histone deacetylase

catalyzes deacetylation of promoter-associated histones H3 and/or H4. One outcome of this deacetylation may simply be chromatin condensation and short-term silencing. Alternatively or additionally, these deacetylation events may ultimately result in formation of heterochromatin, contributing to a persistent, silenced state. In either case, recruitment of SIRT1 to the DNA template by CTIP2 would be expected to result in gene silencing. This feature might be helpful for identification and characterization of the target genes under the control of CTIP proteins in cells of the hematopoietic system and/or the developing central nervous system.

2.6 Abbreviations

The abbreviations used are BCL, B cell leukemia; bp, base pair; CAT, chloramphenicol acetyltransferase; COUP-TF, chicken ovalbumin upstream promoter transcription factor; CTIP 1 and 2, COUP-TF-interacting proteins 1 and 2; GST, glutathione S-transferase; HA, hemagglutinin; HDAC, histone deacetylase; HEK293, human embryonic kidney 293 cells; IgG, immunoglobulin G; kDa, kilodalton; mDa, megadalton; NAM, nicotinamide; Sir2, silent information regulator 2; SIRT1, Sir2-like protein 1 or sirtuin 1; TSA, trichostatin A; WT, wild type.

2.7 Acknowledgements

We thank Drs. T. Kouzarides and M.J. Tsai for providing constructs, M. Marusich for raising the anti-CTIP2 monoclonal antibody, and C. Kiossi and L. Tora for advice with the ChIP assay. We are grateful to M. Beilstein for expert technical advice. The studies were supported by grants from the National Institutes of Health (GM60852) to ML and by a NIEHS Center grant (ES00210) to the Oregon State University Environmental Health Sciences Center. TS was supported by a graduate fellowship from the Royal Thai Government.

2.8 References

Alland, L., Muhle, R., Hou, H., Jr., Potes, J., Chin, L., Schreiber-Agus, N., and DePinho, R. A. (1997). Role for N-CoR and histone deacetylase in Sin3-mediated transcriptional repression. Nature *387*, 49-55.

Avram, D., Fields, A., Pretty On Top, K., Nevrivy, D., Ishmael, J. E., and Leid, M. (2000). Isolation of a novel family of C2H2 zinc finger proteins implicated in transcriptional repression mediated by COUP-TF orphan nuclear receptors. J Biol Chem 275, 10315-10322.

Avram, D., Fields, A., Senawong, T., Topark-Ngarm, A., and Leid, M. (2002). COUP-TF (chicken ovalbumin upstream promoter transcription factor)-interacting protein 1 (CTIP1) is a sequence-specific DNA binding protein. Biochem J *368*, 555-563.

Bernard, O. A., Busson-LeConiat, M., Ballerini, P., Mauchauffe, M., Della Valle, V., Monni, R., Nguyen Khac, F., Mercher, T., Penard-Lacronique, V.,

Pasturaud, P., et al. (2001). A new recurrent and specific cryptic translocation, t(5;14)(q35;q32), is associated with expression of the Hox11L2 gene in T acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia 15, 1495-1504.

Bitterman, K. J., Anderson, R. M., Cohen, H. Y., Latorre-Esteves, M., and Sinclair, D. A. (2002). Inhibition of silencing and accelerated aging by nicotinamide, a putative negative regulator of yeast sir2 and human SIRT1. J Biol Chem 277, 45099-45107.

Cereghini, S., and Yaniv, M. (1984). Assembly of transfected DNA into chromatin: structural changes in the origin-promoter-enhancer region upon replication. Embo J *3*, 1243-1253.

de Haan, G., Chusacultanachai, S., Mao, C., Katzenellenbogen, B. S., and Shapiro, D. J. (2000). Estrogen receptor-KRAB chimeras are potent liganddependent repressors of estrogen-regulated gene expression. J Biol Chem 275, 13493-13501.

De Ruijter, A. J., Van Gennip, A. H., Caron, H. N., Kemp, S., and Van Kuilenburg, A. B. (2002). Histone deacetylases: characterisation of the classical HDAC family. Biochem J *370*, 737-749.

Dignam, J. D., Lebovitz, R. M., and Roeder, R. G. (1983). Accurate transcription initiation by RNA polymerase II in a soluble extract from isolated mammalian nuclei. Nucleic Acids Res *11*, 1475-1489.

Dowell, P., Ishmael, J. E., Avram, D., Peterson, V. J., Nevrivy, D. J., and Leid, M. (1997a). p300 functions as a coactivator for the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha. J Biol Chem 272, 33435-33443.

Dowell, P., Peterson, V. J., Zabriskie, T. M., and Leid, M. (1997b). Ligandinduced peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha conformational change. J Biol Chem *272*, 2013-2020.

Finnin, M. S., Donigian, J. R., and Pavletich, N. P. (2001). Structure of the histone deacetylase SIRT2. Nat Struct Biol *8*, 621-625.

Fischer, D. D., Cai, R., Bhatia, U., Asselbergs, F. A., Song, C., Terry, R., Trogani, N., Widmer, R., Atadja, P., and Cohen, D. (2002). Isolation and characterization of a novel class II histone deacetylase, HDAC10. J Biol Chem 277, 6656-6666.

Fischle, W., Dequiedt, F., Fillion, M., Hendzel, M. J., Voelter, W., and Verdin, E. (2001). Human HDAC7 histone deacetylase activity is associated with HDAC3 in vivo. J Biol Chem *276*, 35826-35835.

Frye, R. A. (1999). Characterization of five human cDNAs with homology to the yeast SIR2 gene: Sir2-like proteins (sirtuins) metabolize NAD and may have protein ADP-ribosyltransferase activity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *260*, 273-279.

Frye, R. A. (2000). Phylogenetic classification of prokaryotic and eukaryotic Sir2-like proteins. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 273, 793-798.

Gao, L., Cueto, M. A., Asselbergs, F., and Atadja, P. (2002). Cloning and functional characterization of HDAC11, a novel member of the human histone deacetylase family. J Biol Chem 277, 25748-25755.

Gray, S. G., and Ekstrom, T. J. (2001). The human histone deacetylase family. Exp Cell Res *262*, 75-83.

Grozinger, C. M., Chao, E. D., Blackwell, H. E., Moazed, D., and Schreiber, S. L. (2001). Identification of a class of small molecule inhibitors of the sirtuin family of NAD-dependent deacetylases by phenotypic screening. J Biol Chem 276, 38837-38843.

Guarente, L. (2000). Sir2 links chromatin silencing, metabolism, and aging. Genes Dev *14*, 1021-1026.

Hassig, C. A., Fleischer, T. C., Billin, A. N., Schreiber, S. L., and Ayer, D. E. (1997). Histone deacetylase activity is required for full transcriptional repression by mSin3A. Cell *89*, 341-347.

Heinzel, T., Lavinsky, R. M., Mullen, T. M., Soderstrom, M., Laherty, C. D., Torchia, J., Yang, W. M., Brard, G., Ngo, S. D., Davie, J. R., *et al.* (1997). A complex containing N-CoR, mSin3 and histone deacetylase mediates transcriptional repression. Nature *387*, 43-48.

Hermanson, O., Glass, C. K., and Rosenfeld, M. G. (2002). Nuclear receptor coregulators: multiple modes of modification. Trends Endocrinol Metab *13*, 55-60.

Huang, E. Y., Zhang, J., Miska, E. A., Guenther, M. G., Kouzarides, T., and Lazar, M. A. (2000). Nuclear receptor corepressors partner with class II histone deacetylases in a Sin3-independent repression pathway. Genes Dev *14*, 45-54.

Imai, S., Armstrong, C. M., Kaeberlein, M., and Guarente, L. (2000). Transcriptional silencing and longevity protein Sir2 is an NAD-dependent histone deacetylase. Nature *403*, 795-800. Jenuwein, T., and Allis, C. D. (2001). Translating the histone code. Science 293, 1074-1080.

Kaczynski, J., Zhang, J. S., Ellenrieder, V., Conley, A., Duenes, T., Kester, H., van Der Burg, B., and Urrutia, R. (2001). The Sp1-like protein BTEB3 inhibits transcription via the basic transcription element box by interacting with mSin3A and HDAC-1 co-repressors and competing with Sp1. J Biol Chem 276, 36749-36756.

Kadosh, D., and Struhl, K. (1997). Repression by Ume6 involves recruitment of a complex containing Sin3 corepressor and Rpd3 histone deacetylase to target promoters. Cell *89*, 365-371.

Lachner, M., and Jenuwein, T. (2002). The many faces of histone lysine methylation. Curr Opin Cell Biol *14*, 286-298.

Lachner, M., O'Carroll, D., Rea, S., Mechtler, K., and Jenuwein, T. (2001). Methylation of histone H3 lysine 9 creates a binding site for HP1 proteins. Nature *410*, 116-120.

Laherty, C. D., Yang, W. M., Sun, J. M., Davie, J. R., Seto, E., and Eisenman, R. N. (1997). Histone deacetylases associated with the mSin3 corepressor mediate mad transcriptional repression. Cell *89*, 349-356.

Langley, E., Pearson, M., Faretta, M., Bauer, U. M., Frye, R. A., Minucci, S., Pelicci, P. G., and Kouzarides, T. (2002). Human SIR2 deacetylates p53 and antagonizes PML/p53-induced cellular senescence. Embo J *21*, 2383-2396.

Lechner, M. S., Begg, G. E., Speicher, D. W., and Rauscher, F. J., 3rd (2000). Molecular determinants for targeting heterochromatin protein 1mediated gene silencing: direct chromoshadow domain-KAP-1 corepressor interaction is essential. Mol Cell Biol *20*, 6449-6465.

Liu, P., Keller, J. R., Ortiz, M., Tessarollo, L., Rachel, R. A., Nakamura, T., Jenkins, N. A., and Copeland, N. G. (2003). Bcl11a is essential for normal lymphoid development. Nat Immunol *4*, 525-532.

Lorenz, P., Koczan, D., and Thiesen, H. J. (2001). Transcriptional repression mediated by the KRAB domain of the human C2H2 zinc finger protein Kox1/ZNF10 does not require histone deacetylation. Biol Chem 382, 637-644.

Luo, J., Nikolaev, A. Y., Imai, S., Chen, D., Su, F., Shiloh, A., Guarente, L., and Gu, W. (2001). Negative control of p53 by Sir2alpha promotes cell survival under stress. Cell *107*, 137-148.

Luo, R. X., Postigo, A. A., and Dean, D. C. (1998). Rb interacts with histone deacetylase to repress transcription. Cell *92*, 463-473.

Nagy, L., Kao, H. Y., Chakravarti, D., Lin, R. J., Hassig, C. A., Ayer, D. E., Schreiber, S. L., and Evans, R. M. (1997). Nuclear receptor repression mediated by a complex containing SMRT, mSin3A, and histone deacetylase. Cell *89*, 373-380.

Nakamura, T., Yamazaki, Y., Saiki, Y., Moriyama, M., Largaespada, D. A., Jenkins, N. A., and Copeland, N. G. (2000). Evi9 encodes a novel zinc finger protein that physically interacts with BCL6, a known human B-cell proto-oncogene product. Mol Cell Biol *20*, 3178-3186.

Nevrivy, D. J., Peterson, V. J., Avram, D., Ishmael, J. E., Hansen, S. G., Dowell, P., Hruby, D. E., Dawson, M. I., and Leid, M. (2000). Interaction of GRASP, a protein encoded by a novel retinoic acid-induced gene, with members of the cytohesin family of guanine nucleotide exchange factors. J Biol Chem 275, 16827-16836.

Reeves, R., Gorman, C. M., and Howard, B. (1985). Minichromosome assembly of non-integrated plasmid DNA transfected into mammalian cells. Nucleic Acids Res *13*, 3599-3615.

Rohr, O., Lecestre, D., Chasserot-Golaz, S., Marban, C., Avram, D., Aunis, D., Leid, M., and Schaeffer, E. (2003). Recruitment of Tat to heterochromatin protein HP1 via interaction with CTIP2 inhibits human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication in microglial cells. J Virol 77, 5415-5427.

Roopra, A., Sharling, L., Wood, I. C., Briggs, T., Bachfischer, U., Paquette, A. J., and Buckley, N. J. (2000). Transcriptional repression by neuron-restrictive silencer factor is mediated via the Sin3-histone deacetylase complex. Mol Cell Biol *20*, 2147-2157.

Ryan, R. F., Schultz, D. C., Ayyanathan, K., Singh, P. B., Friedman, J. R., Fredericks, W. J., and Rauscher, F. J., 3rd (1999). KAP-1 corepressor protein interacts and colocalizes with heterochromatic and euchromatic HP1 proteins: a potential role for Kruppel-associated box-zinc finger proteins in heterochromatin-mediated gene silencing. Mol Cell Biol *19*, 4366-4378.

Saiki, Y., Yamazaki, Y., Yoshida, M., Katoh, O., and Nakamura, T. (2000). Human EVI9, a homologue of the mouse myeloid leukemia gene, is expressed in the hematopoietic progenitors and down-regulated during myeloid differentiation of HL60 cells. Genomics *70*, 387-391. Santos-Rosa, H., Schneider, R., Bannister, A. J., Sherriff, J., Bernstein, B. E., Emre, N. C., Schreiber, S. L., Mellor, J., and Kouzarides, T. (2002). Active genes are tri-methylated at K4 of histone H3. Nature *419*, 407-411.

Satterwhite, E., Sonoki, T., Willis, T. G., Harder, L., Nowak, R., Arriola, E. L., Liu, H., Price, H. P., Gesk, S., Steinemann, D., *et al.* (2001). The BCL11 gene family: involvement of BCL11A in lymphoid malignancies. Blood *98*, 3413-3420.

Smith, C. L., and Hager, G. L. (1997). Transcriptional regulation of mammalian genes in vivo. A tale of two templates. J Biol Chem 272, 27493-27496.

Struhl, K. (1998). Histone acetylation and transcriptional regulatory mechanisms. Genes Dev 12, 599-606.

Vaziri, H., Dessain, S. K., Ng Eaton, E., Imai, S. I., Frye, R. A., Pandita, T. K., Guarente, L., and Weinberg, R. A. (2001). hSIR2(SIRT1) functions as an NAD-dependent p53 deacetylase. Cell *107*, 149-159.

Wakabayashi, Y., Inoue, J., Takahashi, Y., Matsuki, A., Kosugi-Okano, H., Shinbo, T., Mishima, Y., Niwa, O., and Kominami, R. (2003a). Homozygous deletions and point mutations of the Rit1/Bcl11b gene in gamma-ray induced mouse thymic lymphomas. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *301*, 598-603.

Wakabayashi, Y., Watanabe, H., Inoue, J., Takeda, N., Sakata, J., Mishima, Y., Hitomi, J., Yamamoto, T., Utsuyama, M., Niwa, O., *et al.* (2003b). Bcl11b is required for differentiation and survival of alphabeta T lymphocytes. Nat Immunol *4*, 533-539.

Yang, W. M., Inouye, C., Zeng, Y., Bearss, D., and Seto, E. (1996). Transcriptional repression by YY1 is mediated by interaction with a mammalian homolog of the yeast global regulator RPD3. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93, 12845-12850.

Zhang, Y., and Reinberg, D. (2001). Transcription regulation by histone methylation: interplay between different covalent modifications of the core histone tails. Genes Dev *15*, 2343-2360.

Zhou, X., Marks, P. A., Rifkind, R. A., and Richon, V. M. (2001). Cloning and characterization of a histone deacetylase, HDAC9. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98, 10572-10577.

Chapter 3

BCL11A Recruits the Histone Deacetylase SIRT1 to Repress Transcription

Thanaset Senawong^{1,2}, Valerie J. Peterson², and Mark Leid^{1,2,3}

¹Program in Molecular and Cellular Biology, ²Laboratory of Molecular Pharmacology, Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, College of Pharmacy, ³Environmental Health Sciences Center, Oregon State University, Corvallis, Oregon 97331

3.1 Abstract

The B cell leukemia 11A protein (BCL11A/EVI9/CTIP1) has been implicated in hematopoietic cell development and malignancies, however, its contribution to these cellular processes remains unknown. BCL11A is a transcriptional repressor that binds to a GC-rich motif or is recruited to the template via interaction with COUP-TF orphan nuclear receptors. In both cases, BCL11A-mediated transcriptional repression is not reversed by trichostatin A, suggesting the lack of involvement of class I or II histone deacetylases. Nonetheless, chromatin immunoprecipitation assays revealed that expression of BCL11A in mammalian cells resulted in deacetylation of histones H3 and/or H4 that were associated with the promoter region of a reporter gene. Here we show that BCL11A interacts with and recruits SIRT1 to the promoter template to repress transcription of a reporter gene. Moreover, BCL11A-mediated transcriptional repression, as well as deacetylation of promoter-associated histories H3/H4 in BCL11A-transfected cells, was reversed by nicotinamide, an inhibitor of class III histone deacetylases, such as SIRT1. Finally, SIRT1 enhanced the deacetylation of template-associated histories H3/H4 in BCL11A-transfected cells, and stimulated BCL11A-dependent transcriptional repression. These findings define a role for SIRT1 in transcriptional repression mediated by BCL11A.

3.2 Introduction

BCL11A was originally identified as a protein that interacted with and stimulated the transcriptional repression activity of chicken ovalbumin transcription factor II (COUP-TFII), and was named COUP-TF-interacting protein 1 (CTIP1) (Avram et al., 2000) BCL11A was also independently identified by Copeland's group as EVI9 (Ecotropic Viral Integration site 9), the locus of which was demonstrated to be a site of proviral integration resulting in acute myeloid leukemia in BXH2 mice (Nakamura et al., 2000). Subsequently, the human locus of BCL11A was shown to be involved in a translocation event, t(2; 14)(p13; q32.3), that appears to underlie some forms of chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) and immunocytoma. However, the contribution of BCL11A to neoplastic processes in hematopoietic cells of murine or human origin remains unclear.

Although BCL11A has been shown to interact directly with COUP-TF1 (Avram et al., 2000) and BCL6 (Nakamura et al., 2000), BCL11A also binds directly to a GC-rich motif and represses transcription of a downstream reporter gene in the absence of overexpressed COUP-TF family members or BCL6 (Avram et al., 2002), suggesting COUP-TF- and BCL6-independent mechanisms of BCL11A-mediated transcriptional repression may be operant in some cell types.

81

The analysis of BCL11A-null mice has demonstrated the role for BCL11A in both hematopoiesis and postnatal development (Liu et al., 2003). BCL11A and its paralog BCL11B/CTIP2 are similar in sequence, DNA binding specificity, and interacting partners (i.e., COUP-TF proteins). However, the lymphoidal defects resulting disruption of each locus differ. BCL11A is essential for B cell development (Liu et al., 2003), whereas BCL11B is required for $\alpha\beta$ T cell development (Wakabayashi et al., 2003).

Previous studies have revealed that both BCL11A and BCL11B mediate transcriptional repression of a reporter gene in a trichostatin A (TSA)-insensitive manner (Avram et al., 2000; Avram et al., 2002; Senawong et al., 2003). More recently, we have demonstrated that BCL11B interacts with and recruits the class III HDAC, SIRT1, to repress transcription of a reporter gene (Senawong et al., 2003). This finding implicates SIRT1 in the transcriptional activity of BCL11B in mammalian cells, which at least in part, explains TSA-insensitive manner of BCL11Bmediated transcriptional repression. The similarities in both amino acid sequences and physical properties of BCL11A and BCL11B prompted us to speculate that the histone deacetylase SIRT1 may also underlie the mechanism of BCL11A-mediated transcriptional repression. Six lines of evidence indicate that SIRT1 is involved in BCL11A-mediated transcriptional repression in transfected cells: (1) overexpression of BCL11A resulted in deacetylation of histone H3 and/or H4 that were

82

associated with the promoter region of a target gene, (2) both the deacetylation of histone H3/H4 in BCL11A-transfected cells and BCL11Amediated transcriptional repression were found to be partially reversed by nicotinamide, an inhibitor SIRT1, (3) endogenous SIRT1 was specifically recruited to the reporter gene template by overexpressed BCL11A, (4) SIRT1, but not a catalytically inactive mutant, stimulated transcriptional repression mediated by BCL11A, (5) endogenous BCL11A and SIRT1 were found to coimmunoprecipitate from nuclear extracts prepared from untransfected 70z/3 cells, and (6) BCL11A and SIRT1 were found to participate in a direct, physical interaction in vitro. Collectively, these findings implicate the histone deacetylase SIRT1 in the transcriptional repression activity of BCL11A in mammalian cells.

3.3 Materials and Methods

3.3.1 Constructs

The (17-mer)₄-tk-CAT reporter construct was a kind gift from Dr. Ming-jer Tsai (Baylor College of Medicine). Flag-BCL11A construct was prepared by PCR amplification of the BCL11A open reading frame (Avram et al., 2000) with appropriate primers and insertion into pcDNA3(+) (Invitrogen). The Gal4 DBD-BCL11A construct was prepared by PCR amplification with appropriate primers followed by insertion into a commercially available vector (pM; Clontech). Myc-SIRT1, Myc-SIRT1 H363Y and GST-SIRT1 constructs (Langley et al., 2002) were kind gifts from Dr. T. Kouzarides (University of Cambridge, Cambridge, UK). All vectors encoding GST fusion proteins were prepared by PCR amplification of appropriate templates followed by insertion into pGEX-2T (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech). The constructs used for generating [³⁵S]methionine-labeled proteins were prepared by PCR amplification with primers containing appropriate restriction sites for insertion into pcDNA3(+) or pcDNA3.1/His (Invitrogen). All constructs were verified by complete DNA sequencing.

3.3.2 Antibodies

Purified rabbit anti-Sir2α, mouse anti-SIRT1 and rabbit antiacetylated-histone H3 and -histone H4 antibodies were obtained from Upstate. Mouse anti-Flag and -Myc monoclonal antibodies were purchased from Sigma and Oncogene, respectively. Mouse anti-Gal4 was obtained from Santa Cruz Biotechnology. The mouse anti-BCL11A monoclonal antibody was prepared and raised against a recombinant GST fusion protein by Dr. Michael Marusich (Monoclonal Antibody Facility, Institute for Neuroscience, University of Oregon, Eugene, Oregon).

3.3.3 Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assays

ChIP assays were performed on transfected cells essentially as described previously (Senawong et al., 2003) with slight modifications. HEK293 cells were co-transfected at 60% confluency (10 cm plates) with 3 µg of the (17-mer)₄-tk-CAT reporter, 5-20 μg of Gal4-BCL11A, 0.5 μg of Myc-SIRT1, and/or the parent control vectors using the calcium phosphate method. After 48 h, cells were washed twice with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and cross-linked with 1% formaldehyde in PBS at room temperature. Cells were washed twice with ice-cold PBS buffer and collected in harvesting buffer (100 mM Tris-HCl, pH 9.4 containing 10 mM DTT). The cells were lysed in lysis buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.1 containing 1% SDS, 10 mM EDTA, and a protease inhibitor cocktail). The sonicated lysates were then cleared by centrifugation and diluted 2.5-3.75 fold with ChIP dilution buffer (16.7 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.1 containing 0.01% SDS, 1.1% Triton X-100, 1.2 mM EDTA, 167 mM NaCl, and a protease inhibitor cocktail). One tenth of the diluted lysate was reserved as an input sample to determine total amount of reporter plasmid in transfected cells for subsequent normalization procedures. Two equal aliquots of the remaining lysate were used for immunoprecipitation with and without the addition of antibodies against K9-, K16- di-acetylated histone H3, and K5-, K8-, K12-, K16-tetra-acetylated histone H4 (Upstate; 5 µg of each antibody per immunoprecipitation reaction). Immune complexes were recovered with

Protein A/ Protein G sepharose (Amersham Pharmacia) and washed under stringent conditions. Chromatin complexes were eluted with the freshly prepared elution buffer (0.1 M NaHCO₃ containing 1% SDS). The eluates and the above input samples were subjected to an overnight reversal of cross-links at 65°C, followed by a treatment with Proteinase K at 45°C for 1-2 h. DNA was recovered by using QIAquick PCR Purification Kit (QIAGEN) and amplified using a forward primer (5'-GGCATCAGAGCAGATTGTACT-3') upstream of the multimerized 17-mer and a reverse primer (5'-CCTTAGCTCCTGAAAATCTCG-3') downstream of the *tk* promoter but upstream of the transcriptional start site. The resulting PCR product (327 bp) was analyzed by agarose gel electrophoresis and ethidium bromide staining. Experiments were performed three to five times.

3.3.4 Transfection and reporter

HEK293 cells were transfected and harvested as described above. Where indicated, TSA (100 ng/mL) and nicotinamide (15 mM) treatments were initiated 24 h after transfection, and cells were harvested 24 h later. A β -galactosidase expression vector (pCMV-Sport- β Gal, Life Technologies) was cotransfected as an internal control, and β galactosidase activity was used to normalized CAT activity as described (Dowell et al., 1997a).

3.3.5 Coimmunoprecipitation

HEK293 cells were transfected as described above with 15 μ g each of expression vectors encoding Flag-CTIP2 and/or Myc-SIRT1. Fortyeight hours after transfection the cells were lysed in NET-N buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8 containing 150 mM NaCl, 0.5% NP-40, 10% glycerol, 1 mM EDTA, and a protease inhibitor cocktail) by agitation at 4°C for 30 min. After a brief sonication, lysates were cleared by centrifugation, and immunoprecipitated as described previously (Nevrivy et al., 2000) using the antibodies described above. Whole cell extracts from pre-B lymphocytes were prepared by using NET-N buffer as described above, and immunoprecipitated (10 mg of total protein per reaction) with purified anti-BCL11A monoclonal (10-15 μ g) or anti-Sir2 α (0.5 - 2.5 μ g) antibodies. All immunoprecipitates were analyzed by immunoblotting with appropriate antibodies.

3.3.6 GST pulldown experiment

GST pulldown experiments were conducted as described previously (Dowell et al., 1997b). Briefly, equivalent amounts of GST or GST-SIRT1 fusion proteins were bound to glutathione-sepharose (Pharmacia) and incubated with [³⁵S]methionine-labeled proteins (BCL11A or BCL11A truncation mutants) prepared using TNT transcription-translation system (Promega). The reactions were washed five times with binding buffer (10 mM Na-HEPES containing 10% glycerol, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM DTT, 150 mM NaCl and 0.05% NP-40) and bound proteins were eluted and resolved on denaturing SDS-PAGE gels for analysis by autoradiography.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 BCL11A represses transcription in a nicotinamide-sensitive manner

Previous reports demonstrated that BCL11A/CTIP1 repressed transcription of a reporter gene in a TSA-insensitive manner, suggesting that BCL11A-mediated transcriptional repression does not involve the recruitment of class I or class II TSA-sensitive HDACs to the template. However, we cannot exclude the possibility that histone deacetylation mediated by TSA-insensitive HDACs may underlie the transcriptional repression activity of BCL11A. To further explore the precise mechanism(s), we determined whether TSA-insensitive HDAC(s) is involved in BCL11A-mediated transcriptional repression. The Gal4 reporter assay in the presence of nicotinamide (NAM), an inhibitor of NAD⁺dependent, TSA-insensitive, class III HDACs, was performed. The results demonstrated that transcriptional repression mediated by a Gal4-BCL11A fusion protein was partially reversed in the presence of 15 nM nicotinamide in HEK293 cells (Fig. 3.1, compare lanes 4 and 6 with lane 1). Consistent to previous studies (Avram et al., 2000; Avram et al., 2002), TSA, at 100 ng/ml, has no effect on transcription repression mediated by BCL11A (Fig. 3.1, compare lanes 1 and 2 with 4 and 5).

The above results suggest that a nicotinamide-sensitive HDAC(s) may involve in BCL11A-mediated transcriptional repression. To investigate whether histone deacetylation by nicotinamide-sensitive HDAC(s) underlies the repression mechanism(s), the level of acetylated histones associated with the reporter template was determined. The amount of acetylated histones H3 and/or H4 at the promoter region was found to be decreased in BCL11A-transfected cells (upper panel of Fig. 3.2, compare lanes 4 with 6), and this was unaffected by treatment of the transfected cells with TSA (Fig. 3.2, compare lanes 3-6 of the top and middle panels). However, the deacetylation of promoter-associated histone H3 and/or H4 in BCL11Atransfected cells, was inhibited by nicotinamide (Fig. 3.2, compare lanes 3-6 of the top and bottom panels). Based on the above results, which are similar to that of BCL11B/CTIP2 (Senawong et al., 2003), we hypothesized that BCL11A/CTIP1 may also interact with and recruit SIRT1, a member of nicotinamide-sensitive histone deacetylases, to promoter template to repress transcription.

89



Figure 3.1. BCL11A represses transcription in a nicotinamidesensitive manner. HEK293 cells were transiently transfected with 5 μ g of the (17-mer)₄-tk-CAT reporter along with 5 μ g of expression vectors encoding either Gal4-BCL11A or Gal4 DBD as indicated. Twenty-four hours after transfection, cells were treated or not (solid bars) with histone deacetylase inhibitors, TSA (100 ng/ml; open bars) and nicotinamide (NAM; 15 mM; hatched bars), for 24 h before collection. Transfection efficiency was normalized by β -galactosidase activity produced by a cotransfected β galactosidase expression vector. CAT activity determined in the presence of Gal4 DBD and TSA (lane 2) was taken to be maximal and that against which all other determined CAT activities were compared. The results presented represent the mean (± S.E.M.) of three independent experimental determinations.



Figure 3.2. **Nicotinamide-sensitive histone deacetylation underlies BCL11A-mediated transcriptional repression.** HEK293 cells were transfected with 3 μ g of (17-mer)₄-tk-CAT reporter and 20 μ g of an expression vector encoding Gal4-BCL11A. The treatments with TSA and NAM were carried out as described above. Transfection efficiency was normalized by total amount of the transfected (17-mer)₄-tk-CAT reporter as determined by PCR amplification (input lanes 1 and 2; 5% of total). Lanes 3-6 represent template amplification reactions from samples immunoprecipitated with or without antibodies specific for acetylated histones H3 and H4 as indicated. Amplification reactions were separated on a 1% agarose gel that was stained with ethidium bromide to visualize DNA products. The indicated band is the expected, 327 bp amplification product from the reporter gene template. Results are representative of three independent experiments.

3.4.2 BCL11A interacts with and recruits SIRT1 to the promoter template

To investigate whether BCL11A associated with SIRT1, a member of nicotinamide sensitive HDACs, co-immunoprecipitation assays were performed. First, the interaction of co-overexpressed proteins was determined using Flag-BCL11A and Myc-SIRT1. Myc-SIRT1 was immunoprecipitated by anti-Flag antibody but only when Flag-BCL11A was co-expressed in HEK293 cells (Fig. 3.3*A*, compare lanes 5 with 6). Next, we determined if overexpressed BCL11A associated with endogenous SIRT1 in HEK293 cells, which we used as a model system for BCL11A-mediated transcriptional repression. We found that endogenous SIRT1 was immunoprecipitated with Flag-BCL11A by anti-Flag antibody but only in the extracts prepared from BCL11A-transfected HEK293 cells (Fig. 3.3*B*, compare lanes 3 with 4). These findings suggest that BCL11A interacts directly or indirectly with SIRT1 in HEK293 cells.

However, the above co-immunoprecipitation studies were performed using transiently transfected cells expressing BCL11A. It is important to verify that endogenous BCL11A and SIRT1 interact in the cellular context without overexpression of the proteins. To verify this, cell



Figure 3.3. **BCL11A interacts with SIRT1 in HEK 293 cells.** *A*, Myc-SIRT1 coimmunoprecipitates with Flag-BCL11A. Whole cell extracts from HEK293 cells, untransfected and transiently transfected with the indicated expression vectors, were immunoprecipitated with anti-Flag monoclonal antibody. Immunoprecipitates were resolved by SDS-PAGE and analyzed by western blotting with anti-Myc monoclonal antibody that detects Myc-SIRT1. The position of Myc-SIRT1 is indicated. *B*, Endogenous SIRT1 co-immunoprecipitates with Flag-BCL11A from HEK293 cell lysates. Whole cell extracts from HEK293 cells, untransfected and transiently transfected with expression vectors encoding Flag-BCL11A, were immunoprecipitated with anti-Flag monoclonal antibody, and the immunoprecipitated with anti-Flag monoclonal antibody. The position of endogenous SIRT1 is indicated.

extracts were prepared from untransfected mouse pre-B lymphocytes (70z/3 cells), which express both mouse BCL11A/CTIP1 (data not shown) and mouse SIRT1 homolog, Sir2 α (Fig. 3.4*A*, lane 1). Endogenous Sir2 α was co- immunoprecipitated with BCL11A by anti-BCL11A (Fig. 3.4*A*, lane 3), but not by an irrelevant antibody (mouse anti-Gal4, lane 4). Similar results were obtained when precipitating and detecting antibodies were reversed (data not shown). These findings suggest that endogenous BCL11A and Sir2 α (mouse SIRT1 homolog) physically associate with similar complex(es) in mammalian cells when expressed at physiological levels.

Based on the observed ability of BCL11A to interact with SIRT1, we further investigated if endogenous SIRT1 was recruited to the promoter template by using ChIP assays in HEK293 cells transfected with a Gal4-BCL11A expression vector. Endogenous SIRT1 was recruited to the promoter template in cells expressing Gal4-BCL11A (Fig. 3.4*B*, Iane 6). These results demonstrate BCL11A-dependent recruitment of endogenous SIRT1 to the promoter template in HEK293 cells, suggesting a role for this histone deacetylase in the transcriptional repression mechanism of BCL11A.



Figure 3.4. BCL11A interacts with Sir2a in mouse pre-B lymphocytes and recruits SIRT1 to the promoter template in HEK 293 cells. A, Endogenous Sir2 α , a mouse SIRT1 homolog, and BCL11A interact in pre-B lymphocyte whole cell extracts. The cell extracts were immunoprecipitated with no antibody, anti-BCL11A or irrelevant antibody (anti-Gal4). The immunocomplexes were then analyzed by western blotting with anti-Sir2a antibody. The position of endogenous Sir2 α is indicated, which corresponds to ~120 KDa as previously reported (McBurney et al., 2003). B, Endogenous SIRT1 is recruited to promoter template of the reporter gene upon expression of Gal4-BCL11A. HEK293 cells were transfected with 5 µg of (17-mer)₄-tk-CAT reporter and 20 µg of expression vectors encoding either Gal4-BCL11A or Gal4 DBD. Transfection efficiency was normalized as described in the legend of Fig. 3.2 (input lanes 1 and 2; 5% of total). Lanes 3-6 represent template amplification reactions from samples immunoprecipitated with or without antibody directed against SIRT1. Results are representative of three independent experiments.

3.4.3 BCL11A interacts directly with SIRT1 in vitro

The above results demonstrate that BCL11A and SIRT1 associate with similar complex(es) in mammalian cells, however, we cannot distinguish if their interactions are direct physical contact or connected by intermediary protein(s). Therefore, we determined whether BCL11A interact directly with SIRT1 by in vitro GST pull-down assays. Full-length, in vitro translated BCL11A was found to interact with full-length SIRT1 fused to GST (Fig. 3.5, lane 3 of panel A), but not with GST alone (lane 2). This finding suggests that BCL11A and SIRT1 participate in a direct, physical interaction. The SIRT1 interaction interface of BCL11A was mapped by using a series of BCL11A deletion mutants (see Fig. 3.5) and was found to contain within BCL11A amino acids 194-378 (Fig. 3.5, Iane 3 of panel D), which is relatively rich in Proline residues (Avram et al., 2000). This prolinerich region is 69 % identical to that of CTIP2, which is required for SIRT1•CTIP2 interaction (Senawong et al., 2003). All BCL11A deletion mutants containing this region strongly interacted with GST-SIRT1 (Fig. 3.5, lane 3 of panels C and D) but mutants lacking it interacted weakly or not at all (Fig. 3.5, lane 3 of panels B, E and F). In summary, a proline-rich region, BCL11A 194-378, appears to be primarily responsible for interaction with SIRT1 in vitro.

The BCL11A interaction interface of SIRT1 was similarly mapped by using a series of SIRT1 deletion mutants (see Fig.3.6A) fused to GST.


Figure 3.5 The proline-rich region of BCL11A mediates the interaction with SIRT1 *in vitro*. In vitro translated and [³⁵S]Met-labeled full-length BCL11A and truncation BCL11A mutants were incubated with equivalent amounts of bacterially expressed GST (lane 2) or GST-SIRT1 fusion protein (lane 3). After extensive washing, [³⁵S]Met-labeled BCL11A associated with the affinity resin was determined by SDS-PAGE and autoradiography. Input [³⁵S]Met-labeled proteins are shown in *lane* 1. BCL11A truncation mutants used in these studies (panels B-F) are schematically represented on the right with zinc finger motifs denoted by vertical bars.



Figure 3.6 The sirtuin homology domain of SIRT1 mediates the interaction with BCL11A *in vitro*. *A*, A schematic representation of full-length SIRT1 and SIRT1 truncation mutants used to generate GST-SIRT1 fusion proteins for in vitro pull down experiments (see below). *B*, Both [³⁵S]Met-labeled full-length BCL11A (upper panel) and BCL111A 194-378 (*lower panel*; the minimal SIRT1-interaction domain) were incubated with equivalent amounts of GST (lane 2) or GST-SIRT1 fusion proteins (lanes 3-8). The position of bound [³⁵S]Met-labeled full-length BCL11A and BCL11A 194-378 are indicated by arrows on the left. Lane 1 corresponds to 10% of the [³⁵S]Met-labeled full-length BCL11A and BCL11A 194-378 that were incubated with GST or GST-SIRT1 fusion proteins. Shown in *A* and *C* are representative experiments that were replicated 3-5 times.

98

Both in vitro translated, full-length BCL11A and BCL11A 194-378 interacted strongly with the sirtuin homology domain of SIRT1 (Fig. 3.6*B*, lane 5), very weak with SIRT1 1-214 (lane 4), but not at all with SIRT1 541-747 (lane 6). Moreover, BCL11A was found to interact primarily with amino terminal part of sirtuin homology domain, SIRT1 214-441(Fig. 3.6*B*, lane 7), and less so with the carboxyl terminal part, SIRT1 441-541 (lane 8). These findings suggest that BCL11A interacts directly with SIRT1 *in vitro*, and the interaction requires residues within the amino terminal part of sirtuin homology domain of SIRT1 and the proline-rich region of BCL11A (amino acids 194-378).

3.4.4 SIRT1 enhances BCL11A-mediated transcriptional repression

Based on the ability of BCL11A to interact and recruit SIRT1 to the promoter template, we hypothesized that transcriptional repression by BCL11A is at least in part mediated through SIRT1. To assess a potential role for SIRT1 in BCL11A-mediated transcriptional repression, reporter gene assays were carried out in transiently transfected HEK293 cells. In the absence of BCL11A, both wild-type SIRT1 and a catalytically inactive point mutant, SIRT1 H363Y, repressed reporter gene expression in a concentration-dependent manner (Fig. 3.7, lanes 1-4 and 5-8, respectively), suggesting that the catalytic activity of SIRT1 is not required for basal



SIRT1 enhances BCL11A-mediated transcriptional Figure 3.7. repression. Wild-type SIRT1, but not SIRT1 H363Y, stimulates CTIP2-HEK293 cells were transiently mediated transcriptional repression. transfected with 5 µg of the (17-mer)₄-tk-CAT reporter along with 5 µg of expression vectors encoding either Gal4-BCL11A or Gal4 DBD, and increasing amounts (0.125, 0.25, and 0.5 µg) of expression vectors encoding either SIRT1 WT or SIRT1 H363Y, as indicated. Transfection efficiency was normalized as described in the legend of Fig. 3.1. The activity of the CAT reporter in the presence of Gal4 DBD alone (lane 1) was taken to be maximal and that against which all other determined CAT activities were compared. The results presented represent the mean (± S.E.M.) of three independent experimental determinations. Insert, the catalytically inactive Myc-SIRT1 H363Y coimmunoprecipitates with Flag-Transfections, immunoprecipitations, and immunoblots were BCL11A. conducted as described in Fig. 3.3A.

transcriptional repression of the reporter gene. These findings are consistent with previous reports (Langley et al., 2002; Senawong et al., 2003), however, the mechanism(s) for the observed repression mediated by both wild-type SIRT1 and SIRT1 H363Y under the experimental conditions performed is unknown. In contrast, the catalytic activity of SIRT1 was required for enhancement of BCL11A-mediated transcriptional repression. Wild-type SIRT1 enhanced transcriptional repression mediated by BCL11A in a concentration-dependent manner (Fig. 3.7, lanes 9-12). A catalytically inactive form, SIRT1 H363Y, did not enhance BCL11A-mediated repression (Fig. 3.7, lanes 13-16), even though it was capable of interacting with BCL11A in HEK293 cells (insert Fig. 3.7, lane 6). These findings demonstrate that SIRT1 exerts its catalytic activity to stimulate transcriptional repression activity of BCL11A.

Based on the above results, ChIP assays were conducted to determine whether histone deacetylation by SIRT1 underlie the molecular basis for BCL11A-mediated transcriptional repression. Under the experimental conditions employed, co-transfection of Gal4-BCL11A and SIRT1 resulted in a decrease in the level of acetylated histones H3 and/or H4 associated at the promoter region when compared with that observed by transfection of either expression vector individually (Fig. 3.8, compare lanes 6, 8, 10, and 12 of the upper panel). Co-transfection of Gal4-BCL11A and SIRT1 H363Y resulted in no change in the level of acetylated histone



Figure 3.8. SIRT1 stimulates deacetylation of template-associated histones H3 and/or H4 in BCL11A-transfected cells. HEK293 cells were transfected with 3 μ g of the (17-mer)₄-tk-CAT reporter along with expression vectors encoding Gal4-BCL11A (10 μ g) and SIRT1 WT or SIRT1 H363Y (0.5 μ g) as indicated. Acetylated histones H3 and H4 were determined by a ChIP assay as described in experimental procedures. Transfection efficiency was normalized as described in the legend of Fig. 3.2. Input lanes (1-4) correspond to amplification reactions conducted using 3.75% (upper panel) and 5% (lower panel) of the lysates used for IP reactions. Lanes 5-12 represent template amplification reactions from samples immunoprecipitated with or without anti-acetylated histone H3/H4 antibodies as indicated. Results are representative of three independent experiments.

H3/H4 that was associated with the reporter gene template (Fig. 3.8, compare lanes 6, 8, 10, and 12 of the bottom panel). These findings suggest that SIRT1-catalyzed histone deacetylation may underlie, at least in part, the ability of the enzyme to stimulate both BCL11A- and BCL11B-mediated transcriptional repressions.

3.5 Discussion

¢

Transcriptional regulation of eukaryotic gene expression in response to developmental or environmental signals is a complex multi-step process that requires the combinatorial action of many cellular factors. Transcriptional repression by the recruitments of TSA-sensitive HDACs have been characterized for many transcription factors including nuclear hormone receptors (Jones et al., 1998), Rb (Luo et al., 1998), YY1 (Yang et al., 1996), CBF1 (Hsieh et al., 1999), and Ikaros (Koipally et al., 1999). In most cases, these repressors recruit TSA-sensitive HDACs by binding the co-repressor mSin3 or NcoR/SMRT, however, Rb and YY1 recruit HDAC to the template via direct interaction with HDACs (Luo et al., 1998).

Recently, we have provided the evidence that TSA-insensitive HDAC, is recruited to the promoter template to repress transcription of a reporter gene (Senawong et al., 2003). This finding implicates the NAD⁺-dependent,

TSA-insensitive HDAC, SIRT1, in transcriptional repression mediated by CTIP2, a member of novel C₂H₂-zinc finger protein family. In this study, we demonstrate that BCL11A (CTIP1/EVI9), a close paralog of CTIP2 (BCL11B/Rit1), can also interact directly and recruit SIRT1 to the promoter template to repress transcription. Similar to that of CTIP2, the proline-rich region of BCL11A/CTIP1 was found to interact strongly with sirtuin homology domain of SIRT1 (see Fig. 3.6*B*), indicating that the interactions between SIRT1 and this novel family of C₂H₂-zinc finger proteins are highly conserved. Vice versa, the sirtuin homology domain is highly conserved among all SIRT proteins, thus it remains possible that other members of the sirtuin family may also interact with both BCL11A and BCL11B, perhaps in different cellular context(s). However, the physiological consequence(s) of these interactions other than transcriptional function remains to be explored.

The findings that overexpression of BCL11A following proviral integration results in generation of myeloid leukemia and that BCL11A induces anchorage independence of NIH 3T3 cells (Nakamura et al., 2000), implicate BCL11A as a dominant oncogene. However, the contribution of BCL11A to neoplastic processes in hematopoietic cells remains unclear. Like BCL11A, SIRT1 can interact directly with p53 and overexpression of SIRT1 inhibits p53 transcriptional activity and p53-dependent apoptosis in response to DNA damage and oxidative stresses (Langley et al., 2002; Luo

et al., 2001). In response to DNA damage and other cellular stresses, p53 is activated to trigger apoptosis and cell-cycle arrest (Appella and Anderson, 2001; Brooks and Gu, 2003). Based on our findings that BCL11A interacts directly and recruits SIRT1 to repress transcription, one can imagine that SIRT1 may link p53 and BCL11A to oncogenesis of hematopoietic cells.

Although, the physiological target gene(s) of BCL11A is unknown, its direct interactions with BCL6 (Nakamura et al., 2000) and COUP-TF proteins (Avram et al., 2000) suggest that BCL11A may involve in the transcriptional repressions mediated by BCL6 and COUP-TF proteins. However, the relative contributions of BCL6 or COUP-TF-dependent and independent pathways to the overall transcriptional regulatory activities of BCL11A in mammalian cells are unknown. BCL6 encodes a transcriptional repressor required for the development of germinal centers (GCs) and implicated in the pathogenesis of GC-derived B cell lymphoma. (Dalla-Favera et al., 1994; Dent et al., 1999). Recently, BCL6 has been shown to control the expression of the B7-1/CD80 costimulatory receptor in GC B cells, leading the authors to speculate that BCL6 may directly control the ability of B cell to interact with T cells during normal GC development (Niu et al., 2003). Lui et al. demonstrated that BCL11A is required for B cell development and unexpectedly discovered that the absence of BCL11A resulted in abnormal ratios of $\alpha\beta$ to $\gamma\delta$ thymocytes and CD4 to CD8

thymocytes (Liu et al., 2003). This indicates that BCL11A is involved in the differentiation of these thymocyte subsets. BCL11A is expressed in CD4⁻ CD8⁻ cells but not CD4⁺CD8⁺cells, suggesting that BCL11A may be involved in early thymocyte development (Liu et al., 2003). These findings support a model that BCL6 and BCL11A function in a common signaling pathway(s).

Our finding that treatment of BCL11A-transfected cells with nicotinamide, an inhibitor of TSA-insensitive class III HDACs, does not fully relieve BCL11A-mediated transcriptional repression suggests that additional corepressor(s) may be required for the repression mechanism(s) of BCL11A. Recruitment of HP1 proteins to the promoter template results in transcriptional repression either by HP1 self-assembly into a supramolecular, heterochromatinized template (Lachner et al., 2001), or by interaction of HP1 with a component of TFIID, TAF_{II}130, precluding the nucleation of the preinitiation complex formation (Vassallo and Tanese, 2002). Although, a potential role for HP1 proteins in CTIP2-mediated transcriptional repression has been reported (Rohr et al., 2003), whether or not HP1 proteins may play a role in BCL11A-mediated transcriptional repression is currently being investigated in this laboratory. However, it remains possible that BCL11A and CTIP2 interact with different corepressor(s)/co-activator(s) under different conditions and future experiments may better clarify these possibilities.

The results described in this study and the previous study (Senawong et al., 2003) strongly suggest that the NAD+-dependent, nicotinamidesensitive histone deacetylase SIRT1 contributes, at least in part, to the transcriptional repression activities of both BCL11A (CTIP1) and CTIP2(BCL11B). Beyond transcriptional repression, another possibility would be that both BCL11A and BCL11B could themselves be substrates of SIRT1, which could thereby modulate their function(s). This feature will further help to identify and characterize their target genes in order to elucidate the biological functions of these proteins in cells of the hematopoietic and central nervous systems.

3.6 Abbreviations

The abbreviations used are BCL, B cell leukemia; bp, base pair; CAT, chloramphenicol acetyltransferase; COUP-TF, chicken ovalbumin upstream promoter transcription factor; CTIP 1 and 2, COUP-TF-interacting proteins 1 and 2; GST, glutathione S-transferase; HA, hemagglutinin; HDAC, histone deacetylase; HEK293, human embryonic kidney 293 cells; IgG, immunoglobulin G; kDa, kilodalton; NAM, nicotinamide; Sir2, silent information regulator 2; SIRT1, Sir2-like protein 1 or sirtuin 1; TSA, trichostatin A; WT, wild type.

3.7 Acknowledgements

We thank Drs. T. Kouzarides, M.J. Tsai, and D. Avram for providing constructs, and M. Marusich for raising the anti-BCL11A monoclonal antibody. We are grateful to M. Beilstein for expert technical advice. The studies were supported by grants from the National Institutes of Health (GM60852) to ML and by a NIEHS Center grant (ES00210) to the Oregon State University Environmental Health Sciences Center. TS was supported by a graduate fellowship from the Royal Thai Government.

3.8 References

Appella, E., and Anderson, C. W. (2001). Post-translational modifications and activation of p53 by genotoxic stresses. Eur J Biochem 268, 2764-2772.

Avram, D., Fields, A., Pretty On Top, K., Nevrivy, D. J., Ishmael, J. E., and Leid, M. (2000). Isolation of a novel family of C(2)H(2) zinc finger proteins implicated in transcriptional repression mediated by chicken ovalbumin upstream promoter transcription factor (COUP-TF) orphan nuclear receptors. J Biol Chem 275, 10315-10322.

Avram, D., Fields, A., Senawong, T., Topark-Ngarm, A., and Leid, M. (2002). COUP-TF (chicken ovalbumin upstream promoter transcription factor)-interacting protein 1 (CTIP1) is a sequence-specific DNA binding protein. Biochem J *368*, 555-563.

Brooks, C. L., and Gu, W. (2003). Ubiquitination, phosphorylation and acetylation: the molecular basis for p53 regulation. Curr Opin Cell Biol *15*, 164-171.

Dalla-Favera, R., Ye, B. H., Lo Coco, F., Chang, C. C., Cechova, K., Zhang, J., Migliazza, A., Mellado, W., Niu, H., Chaganti, S., and et al. (1994). BCL-6 and the molecular pathogenesis of B-cell lymphoma. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol *59*, 117-123.

Dent, A. L., Doherty, T. M., Paul, W. E., Sher, A., and Staudt, L. M. (1999). BCL-6-deficient mice reveal an IL-4-independent, STAT6-dependent pathway that controls susceptibility to infection by Leishmania major. J Immunol *163*, 2098-2103.

Dowell, P., Ishmael, J. E., Avram, D., Peterson, V. J., Nevrivy, D. J., and Leid, M. (1997a). p300 functions as a coactivator for the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha. J Biol Chem 272, 33435-33443.

Dowell, P., Peterson, V. J., Zabriskie, T. M., and Leid, M. (1997b). Ligandinduced peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha conformational change. J Biol Chem 272, 2013-2020.

Hsieh, J. J., Zhou, S., Chen, L., Young, D. B., and Hayward, S. D. (1999). CIR, a corepressor linking the DNA binding factor CBF1 to the histone deacetylase complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *96*, 23-28.

Jones, P. L., Veenstra, G. J., Wade, P. A., Vermaak, D., Kass, S. U., Landsberger, N., Strouboulis, J., and Wolffe, A. P. (1998). Methylated DNA and MeCP2 recruit histone deacetylase to repress transcription. Nat Genet *19*, 187-191.

Koipally, J., Renold, A., Kim, J., and Georgopoulos, K. (1999). Repression by lkaros and Aiolos is mediated through histone deacetylase complexes. Embo J *18*, 3090-3100.

Lachner, M., O'Carroll, D., Rea, S., Mechtler, K., and Jenuwein, T. (2001). Methylation of histone H3 lysine 9 creates a binding site for HP1 proteins. Nature *410*, 116-120.

Langley, E., Pearson, M., Faretta, M., Bauer, U. M., Frye, R. A., Minucci, S., Pelicci, P. G., and Kouzarides, T. (2002). Human SIR2 deacetylates p53 and antagonizes PML/p53-induced cellular senescence. Embo J *21*, 2383-2396.

Liu, P., Keller, J. R., Ortiz, M., Tessarollo, L., Rachel, R. A., Nakamura, T., Jenkins, N. A., and Copeland, N. G. (2003). Bcl11a is essential for normal lymphoid development. Nat Immunol *4*, 525-532.

Luo, J., Nikolaev, A. Y., Imai, S., Chen, D., Su, F., Shiloh, A., Guarente, L., and Gu, W. (2001). Negative control of p53 by Sir2alpha promotes cell survival under stress. Cell *107*, 137-148.

Luo, R. X., Postigo, A. A., and Dean, D. C. (1998). Rb interacts with histone deacetylase to repress transcription. Cell *92*, 463-473.

McBurney, M. W., Yang, X., Jardine, K., Bieman, M., Th'ng, J., and Lemieux, M. (2003). The absence of SIR2alpha protein has no effect on global gene silencing in mouse embryonic stem cells. Mol Cancer Res *1*, 402-409.

Nakamura, T., Yamazaki, Y., Saiki, Y., Moriyama, M., Largaespada, D. A., Jenkins, N. A., and Copeland, N. G. (2000). Evi9 encodes a novel zinc finger protein that physically interacts with BCL6, a known human B-cell proto-oncogene product. Mol Cell Biol *20*, 3178-3186.

Nevrivy, D. J., Peterson, V. J., Avram, D., Ishmael, J. E., Hansen, S. G., Dowell, P., Hruby, D. E., Dawson, M. I., and Leid, M. (2000). Interaction of GRASP, a protein encoded by a novel retinoic acid-induced gene, with members of the cytohesin family of guanine nucleotide exchange factors. J Biol Chem 275, 16827-16836.

Niu, H., Cattoretti, G., and Dalla-Favera, R. (2003). BCL6 controls the expression of the B7-1/CD80 costimulatory receptor in germinal center B cells. J Exp Med *198*, 211-221.

Rohr, O., Lecestre, D., Chasserot-Golaz, S., Marban, C., Avram, D., Aunis, D., Leid, M., and Schaeffer, E. (2003). Recruitment of Tat to heterochromatin protein HP1 via interaction with CTIP2 inhibits human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication in microglial cells. J Virol 77, 5415-5427.

Senawong, T., Peterson, V. J., Avram, D., Shepherd, D. M., Frye, R. A., Minucci, S., and Leid, M. (2003). Involvement of the histone deacetylase SIRT1 in chicken ovalbumin upstream promoter transcription factor (COUP-TF)-interacting protein 2-mediated transcriptional repression. J Biol Chem 278, 43041-43050.

Vassallo, M. F., and Tanese, N. (2002). Isoform-specific interaction of HP1 with human TAFII130. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99, 5919-5924.

Wakabayashi, Y., Watanabe, H., Inoue, J., Takeda, N., Sakata, J., Mishima, Y., Hitomi, J., Yamamoto, T., Utsuyama, M., Niwa, O., *et al.* (2003). Bcl11b is required for differentiation and survival of alphabeta T lymphocytes. Nat Immunol *4*, 533-539.

Yang, W. M., Inouye, C., Zeng, Y., Bearss, D., and Seto, E. (1996). Transcriptional repression by YY1 is mediated by interaction with a mammalian homolog of the yeast global regulator RPD3. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93, 12845-12850.

Conclusions

CTIP proteins are two novel and highly related C_2H_2 zinc finger proteins that have been implicated in COUP-TF signaling (Avram et al., 2000), etiology of myeloid (Nakamura et al., 2000) and lymphoid (Bernard et al., 2001; Satterwhite et al., 2001) malignancies, and hematopoietic cell development (Liu et al., 2003; Wakabayashi et al., 2003). However, the precise cellular function(s) and the contribution of these proteins to neoplastic processes and hematopoietic cell development remain to be investigated. CTIP proteins have been shown to possess transcriptional repression activity (Avram et al., 2000; Avram et al., 2002) that may utilize a different mechanism(s) from that utilized by some C_2H_2 zinc finger transcription factors and several nuclear receptors (Struhl, 1998).

A greater understanding the molecular mechanism(s) underlying the CTIP-mediated transcriptional repression would contribute additional knowledge toward the goal of elucidating the cellular function(s) of these proteins. The studies described herein were designed to contribute additional understanding of the molecular mechanisms underlying the transcriptional repression activity of CTIP proteins through the functional characterization of a potential CTIP-interacting protein(s).

Previous studies demonstrated that CTIP proteins repressed transcription of a reporter gene in a TSA-insensitive manner (Avram et al., 2000; Avram et al., 2002), suggesting that this repression mechanism(s) may not involve TSA-sensitive histone deacetylation catalyzed by member(s) of class I and II HDACs. Several potential repression mechanisms that may underlie the CTIP-mediated transcriptional repression have been proposed (Avram et al., 2002). One of those potential mechanisms is that CTIP proteins may exert TSA-insensitive histone deacetylation catalyzed by TSA-insensitive HDAC(s), such as SIRT1, to repress transcription.

In this study, SIRT1 was demonstrated to interact with CTIP proteins both in vitro and in mammalian cells. The SIRT1•CTIPs interactions were strongly supported by the findings that endogenous SIRT1 and CTIP proteins interacted in the cellular context, *i.e.* in the absence of overexpression. Moreover, column chromatography revealed that SIRT1 and CTIP2 were components of a large complex in Jurkat cell nuclear extracts. The SIRT1 interaction interfaces of both CTIP1 and CTIP2 were identified and contained within the proline-rich regions of these proteins. These results may be relevant to the findings that these highly conserved regions harbor an autonomous transcriptional repression activity when fused to the GAL4 DNA binding domain (Avram D and Leid M, unpublished results). The CTIP interaction interface of SIRT1 was contained within the amino-terminal part of sirtuin homology domain that overlaps, at least partially, with the catalytic domain of the enzyme.

In light of results demonstrating that SIRT1 associates with CTIP proteins in mammalian cells, SIRT1 may underlie the transcriptional repression activity of CTIP proteins. In order to determine if SIRT1 underlies the mechanism(s) of CTIP-mediated transcriptional repression, sequential experiments were conducted. First, GAL4 reporter gene assays demonstrated that CTIP-mediated transcriptional repression was inhibited, at least partially, by nicotinamide, an inhibitor of the NAD⁺-dependent, TSAinsensitive HDACs. Second, ChIP assays demonstrated that TSAinsensitive, but nicotinamide-sensitive histone deacetylation might underlie transcriptional activity of CTIP proteins due to the observed decrease in levels of acetylated histones H3 and/or H4 at the promoter region of a reporter gene upon overexpression of CTIP proteins. Third, ChIP assays revealed that endogenous SIRT1 was recruited to the promoter template of a reporter gene in mammalian cells upon overexpression of CTIP proteins. Fourth, GAL4 reporter gene assays demonstrated that SIRT1 enhanced the transcriptional repression mediated by CTIP proteins and this enhancement required the catalytic activity of SIRT1. Finally, ChIP assays demonstrated that SIRT1 enhanced the deacetylation of template-associated histories H3 and/or H4 in CTIP-transfected cells. These results support the hypothesis that the observed TSA-insensitive manner of CTIP-mediated transcriptional

repression was due to the ability of CTIP proteins to recruit the TSAinsensitive HDACs to repress transcription.

In summary, these results strongly suggest that CTIP-mediated transcriptional repression involves the recruitment of SIRT1 to the template, at which the TSA-insensitive, NAD⁺-dependent histone deacetylase catalyzes deacetylation of promoter-associated histones H3 and/or H4. One outcome of this deacetylation may simply be chromatin condensation, leading to transcriptional repression. Alternatively and/or additionally, this deacetylation may ultimately result in formation of heterochromatin, contributing to a persistent, silenced state. This feature might be helpful for identification and characterization of the target genes under the control of CTIP proteins in cells of hematopoietic system and/or the developing central nervous system.

References

Avram, D., Fields, A., Pretty On Top, K., Nevrivy, D. J., Ishmael, J. E., and Leid, M. (2000). Isolation of a novel family of C(2)H(2) zinc finger proteins implicated in transcriptional repression mediated by chicken ovalbumin upstream promoter transcription factor (COUP-TF) orphan nuclear receptors. J Biol Chem 275, 10315-10322.

Avram, D., Fields, A., Senawong, T., Topark-Ngarm, A., and Leid, M. (2002). COUP-TF (chicken ovalbumin upstream promoter transcription factor)-interacting protein 1 (CTIP1) is a sequence-specific DNA binding protein. Biochem J *368*, 555-563.

Bernard, O. A., Busson-LeConiat, M., Ballerini, P., Mauchauffe, M., Della Valle, V., Monni, R., Nguyen Khac, F., Mercher, T., Penard-Lacronique, V.,

Pasturaud, P., et al. (2001). A new recurrent and specific cryptic translocation, t(5;14)(q35;q32), is associated with expression of the Hox11L2 gene in T acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia 15, 1495-1504.

Liu, P., Keller, J. R., Ortiz, M., Tessarollo, L., Rachel, R. A., Nakamura, T., Jenkins, N. A., and Copeland, N. G. (2003). Bcl11a is essential for normal lymphoid development. Nat Immunol *4*, 525-532.

Nakamura, T., Yamazaki, Y., Saiki, Y., Moriyama, M., Largaespada, D. A., Jenkins, N. A., and Copeland, N. G. (2000). Evi9 encodes a novel zinc finger protein that physically interacts with BCL6, a known human B-cell proto-oncogene product. Mol Cell Biol *20*, 3178-3186.

Satterwhite, E., Sonoki, T., Willis, T. G., Harder, L., Nowak, R., Arriola, E. L., Liu, H., Price, H. P., Gesk, S., Steinemann, D., *et al.* (2001). The BCL11 gene family: involvement of BCL11A in lymphoid malignancies. Blood *98*, 3413-3420.

Struhl, K. (1998). Histone acetylation and transcriptional regulatory mechanisms. Genes Dev *12*, 599-606.

Wakabayashi, Y., Watanabe, H., Inoue, J., Takeda, N., Sakata, J., Mishima, Y., Hitomi, J., Yamamoto, T., Utsuyama, M., Niwa, O., *et al.* (2003). Bcl11b is required for differentiation and survival of alphabeta T lymphocytes. Nat Immunol *4*, 533-539.

Bibliography

Albagli, O., Dhordain, P., Deweindt, C., Lecocq, G., and Leprince, D. (1995). The BTB/POZ domain: a new protein-protein interaction motif common to DNA- and actin-binding proteins. Cell Growth Differ 6, 1193-1198.

Alland, L., Muhle, R., Hou, H., Jr., Potes, J., Chin, L., Schreiber-Agus, N., and DePinho, R. A. (1997). Role for N-CoR and histone deacetylase in Sin3-mediated transcriptional repression. Nature *387*, 49-55.

Allman, D., Punt, J. A., Izon, D. J., Aster, J. C., and Pear, W. S. (2002). An invitation to T and more: notch signaling in lymphopoiesis. Cell *109 Suppl*, S1-11.

Appella, E., and Anderson, C. W. (2001). Post-translational modifications and activation of p53 by genotoxic stresses. Eur J Biochem 268, 2764-2772.

Avram, D., Fields, A., Pretty On Top, K., Nevrivy, D. J., Ishmael, J. E., and Leid, M. (2000). Isolation of a novel family of C(2)H(2) zinc finger proteins implicated in transcriptional repression mediated by chicken ovalbumin upstream promoter transcription factor (COUP-TF) orphan nuclear receptors. J Biol Chem 275, 10315-10322.

Avram, D., Fields, A., Senawong, T., Topark-Ngarm, A., and Leid, M. (2002). COUP-TF (chicken ovalbumin upstream promoter transcription factor)-interacting protein 1 (CTIP1) is a sequence-specific DNA binding protein. Biochem J *368*, 555-563.

Bain, G., Maandag, E. C., Izon, D. J., Amsen, D., Kruisbeek, A. M., Weintraub, B. C., Krop, I., Schlissel, M. S., Feeney, A. J., van Roon, M., and et al. (1994). E2A proteins are required for proper B cell development and initiation of immunoglobulin gene rearrangements. Cell *79*, 885-892.

Bardwell, V. J., and Treisman, R. (1994). The POZ domain: a conserved protein-protein interaction motif. Genes Dev *8*, 1664-1677.

Bellefroid, E. J., Poncelet, D. A., Lecocq, P. J., Revelant, O., and Martial, J. A. (1991). The evolutionarily conserved Kruppel-associated box domain defines a subfamily of eukaryotic multifingered proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *88*, 3608-3612.

Bernard, O. A., Busson-LeConiat, M., Ballerini, P., Mauchauffe, M., Della Valle, V., Monni, R., Nguyen Khac, F., Mercher, T., Penard-Lacronique, V., Pasturaud, P., et al. (2001). A new recurrent and specific cryptic translocation, t(5;14)(q35;q32), is associated with expression of the Hox11L2 gene in T acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia *15*, 1495-1504.

Bitterman, K. J., Anderson, R. M., Cohen, H. Y., Latorre-Esteves, M., and Sinclair, D. A. (2002). Inhibition of silencing and accelerated aging by nicotinamide, a putative negative regulator of yeast sir2 and human SIRT1. J Biol Chem *277*, 45099-45107.

Bradbury, E. M. (1992). Reversible histone modifications and the chromosome cell cycle. Bioessays 14, 9-16.

Brooks, C. L., and Gu, W. (2003). Ubiquitination, phosphorylation and acetylation: the molecular basis for p53 regulation. Curr Opin Cell Biol *15*, 164-171.

Buggy, J. J., Sideris, M. L., Mak, P., Lorimer, D. D., McIntosh, B., and Clark, J. M. (2000). Cloning and characterization of a novel human histone deacetylase, HDAC8. Biochem J *350 Pt 1*, 199-205.

Bui, H. T., Yamaoka, E., and Miyano, T. (2004). Involvement of Histone H3 (Ser10) Phosphorylation in Chromosome Condensation Without Cdc2 Kinase and Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Activation in Pig Oocytes. Biol Reprod.

Cereghini, S., and Yaniv, M. (1984). Assembly of transfected DNA into chromatin: structural changes in the origin-promoter-enhancer region upon replication. Embo J *3*, 1243-1253.

Chen, H., Lin, R. J., Schiltz, R. L., Chakravarti, D., Nash, A., Nagy, L., Privalsky, M. L., Nakatani, Y., and Evans, R. M. (1997). Nuclear receptor coactivator ACTR is a novel histone acetyltransferase and forms a multimeric activation complex with P/CAF and CBP/p300. Cell *90*, 569-580.

Chen, H., Lin, R. J., Xie, W., Wilpitz, D., and Evans, R. M. (1999). Regulation of hormone-induced histone hyperacetylation and gene activation via acetylation of an acetylase. Cell *98*, 675-686.

Cheung, P., Tanner, K. G., Cheung, W. L., Sassone-Corsi, P., Denu, J. M., and Allis, C. D. (2000). Synergistic coupling of histone H3 phosphorylation and acetylation in response to epidermal growth factor stimulation. Mol Cell *5*, 905-915.

Dalla-Favera, R., Ye, B. H., Lo Coco, F., Chang, C. C., Cechova, K., Zhang, J., Migliazza, A., Mellado, W., Niu, H., Chaganti, S., and et al. (1994). BCL-6 and the molecular pathogenesis of B-cell lymphoma. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol *59*, 117-123.

de Haan, G., Chusacultanachai, S., Mao, C., Katzenellenbogen, B. S., and Shapiro, D. J. (2000). Estrogen receptor-KRAB chimeras are potent liganddependent repressors of estrogen-regulated gene expression. J Biol Chem 275, 13493-13501.

Dent, A. L., Doherty, T. M., Paul, W. E., Sher, A., and Staudt, L. M. (1999). BCL-6-deficient mice reveal an IL-4-independent, STAT6-dependent pathway that controls susceptibility to infection by Leishmania major. J Immunol *163*, 2098-2103.

De Ruijter, A. J., Van Gennip, A. H., Caron, H. N., Kemp, S., and Van Kuilenburg, A. B. (2002). Histone deacetylases: characterisation of the classical HDAC family. Biochem J *370*, 737-749.

Dignam, J. D., Lebovitz, R. M., and Roeder, R. G. (1983). Accurate transcription initiation by RNA polymerase II in a soluble extract from isolated mammalian nuclei. Nucleic Acids Res *11*, 1475-1489.

Dowell, P., Ishmael, J. E., Avram, D., Peterson, V. J., Nevrivy, D. J., and Leid, M. (1997a). p300 functions as a coactivator for the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha. J Biol Chem 272, 33435-33443.

Dowell, P., Peterson, V. J., Zabriskie, T. M., and Leid, M. (1997b). Ligandinduced peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha conformational change. J Biol Chem 272, 2013-2020.

Dryden, S. C., Nahhas, F. A., Nowak, J. E., Goustin, A. S., and Tainsky, M. A. (2003). Role for human SIRT2 NAD-dependent deacetylase activity in control of mitotic exit in the cell cycle. Mol Cell Biol *23*, 3173-3185.

Dyer, M. J., and Oscier, D. G. (2002). The configuration of the immunoglobulin genes in B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leukemia *16*, 973-984.

Fabbrizio, E., El Messaoudi, S., Polanowska, J., Paul, C., Cook, J. R., Lee, J. H., Negre, V., Rousset, M., Pestka, S., Le Cam, A., and Sardet, C. (2002). Negative regulation of transcription by the type II arginine methyltransferase PRMT5. EMBO Rep *3*, 641-645.

Finnin, M. S., Donigian, J. R., and Pavletich, N. P. (2001). Structure of the histone deacetylase SIRT2. Nat Struct Biol *8*, 621-625.

Fischer, D. D., Cai, R., Bhatia, U., Asselbergs, F. A., Song, C., Terry, R., Trogani, N., Widmer, R., Atadja, P., and Cohen, D. (2002). Isolation and characterization of a novel class II histone deacetylase, HDAC10. J Biol Chem 277, 6656-6666.

Fischle, W., Dequiedt, F., Fillion, M., Hendzel, M. J., Voelter, W., and Verdin, E. (2001). Human HDAC7 histone deacetylase activity is associated with HDAC3 in vivo. J Biol Chem *276*, 35826-35835.

Frye, R. A. (1999). Characterization of five human cDNAs with homology to the yeast SIR2 gene: Sir2-like proteins (sirtuins) metabolize NAD and may have protein ADP-ribosyltransferase activity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *260*, 273-279.

Frye, R. A. (2000). Phylogenetic classification of prokaryotic and eukaryotic Sir2-like proteins. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 273, 793-798.

Galasinski, S. C., Resing, K. A., Goodrich, J. A., and Ahn, N. G. (2002). Phosphatase inhibition leads to histone deacetylases 1 and 2 phosphorylation and disruption of corepressor interactions. J Biol Chem 277, 19618-19626.

Gao, L., Cueto, M. A., Asselbergs, F., and Atadja, P. (2002). Cloning and functional characterization of HDAC11, a novel member of the human histone deacetylase family. J Biol Chem 277, 25748-25755.

Gerondakis, S., Grumont, R., Rourke, I., and Grossmann, M. (1998). The regulation and roles of Rel/NF-kappa B transcription factors during lymphocyte activation. Curr Opin Immunol *10*, 353-359.

Goossens, T., Klein, U., and Kuppers, R. (1998). Frequent occurrence of deletions and duplications during somatic hypermutation: implications for oncogene translocations and heavy chain disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *95*, 2463-2468.

Gray, S. G., and Ekstrom, T. J. (2001). The human histone deacetylase family. Exp Cell Res 262, 75-83.

Grignani, F., De Matteis, S., Nervi, C., Tomassoni, L., Gelmetti, V., Cioce, M., Fanelli, M., Ruthardt, M., Ferrara, F. F., Zamir, I., *et al.* (1998). Fusion proteins of the retinoic acid receptor-alpha recruit histone deacetylase in promyelocytic leukaemia. Nature *391*, 815-818.

Grozinger, C. M., Chao, E. D., Blackwell, H. E., Moazed, D., and Schreiber, S. L. (2001). Identification of a class of small molecule inhibitors of the

sirtuin family of NAD-dependent deacetylases by phenotypic screening. J Biol Chem 276, 38837-38843.

Grunstein, M. (1997). Histone acetylation in chromatin structure and transcription. Nature *389*, 349-352.

Grunstein, M., Hecht, A., Fisher-Adams, G., Wan, J., Mann, R. K., Strahl-Bolsinger, S., Laroche, T., and Gasser, S. (1995). The regulation of euchromatin and heterochromatin by histones in yeast. J Cell Sci Suppl *19*, 29-36.

Guarente, L. (2000). Sir2 links chromatin silencing, metabolism, and aging. Genes Dev *14*, 1021-1026.

Hassig, C. A., Fleischer, T. C., Billin, A. N., Schreiber, S. L., and Ayer, D. E. (1997). Histone deacetylase activity is required for full transcriptional repression by mSin3A. Cell *89*, 341-347.

Heinzel, T., Lavinsky, R. M., Mullen, T. M., Soderstrom, M., Laherty, C. D., Torchia, J., Yang, W. M., Brard, G., Ngo, S. D., Davie, J. R., *et al.* (1997). A complex containing N-CoR, mSin3 and histone deacetylase mediates transcriptional repression. Nature *387*, 43-48.

Hermanson, O., Glass, C. K., and Rosenfeld, M. G. (2002). Nuclear receptor coregulators: multiple modes of modification. Trends Endocrinol Metab *13*, 55-60.

Hong, S. H., David, G., Wong, C. W., Dejean, A., and Privalsky, M. L. (1997). SMRT corepressor interacts with PLZF and with the PML-retinoic acid receptor alpha (RARalpha) and PLZF-RARalpha oncoproteins associated with acute promyelocytic leukemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *94*, 9028-9033.

Hsieh, J. J., Zhou, S., Chen, L., Young, D. B., and Hayward, S. D. (1999). CIR, a corepressor linking the DNA binding factor CBF1 to the histone deacetylase complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *96*, 23-28.

Huang, E. Y., Zhang, J., Miska, E. A., Guenther, M. G., Kouzarides, T., and Lazar, M. A. (2000). Nuclear receptor corepressors partner with class II histone deacetylases in a Sin3-independent repression pathway. Genes Dev *14*, 45-54.

Imai, S., Armstrong, C. M., Kaeberlein, M., and Guarente, L. (2000). Transcriptional silencing and longevity protein Sir2 is an NAD-dependent histone deacetylase. Nature *403*, 795-800. lvy, J. M., Klar, A. J., and Hicks, J. B. (1986). Cloning and characterization of four SIR genes of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Cell Biol *6*, 688-702.

Jason, L. J., Moore, S. C., Lewis, J. D., Lindsey, G., and Ausio, J. (2002). Histone ubiquitination: a tagging tail unfolds? Bioessays *24*, 166-174.

Jenuwein, T., and Allis, C. D. (2001). Translating the histone code. Science 293, 1074-1080.

Jones, P. L., Veenstra, G. J., Wade, P. A., Vermaak, D., Kass, S. U., Landsberger, N., Strouboulis, J., and Wolffe, A. P. (1998). Methylated DNA and MeCP2 recruit histone deacetylase to repress transcription. Nat Genet *19*, 187-191.

Kaczynski, J., Zhang, J. S., Ellenrieder, V., Conley, A., Duenes, T., Kester, H., van Der Burg, B., and Urrutia, R. (2001). The Sp1-like protein BTEB3 inhibits transcription via the basic transcription element box by interacting with mSin3A and HDAC-1 co-repressors and competing with Sp1. J Biol Chem 276, 36749-36756.

Kadosh, D., and Struhl, K. (1997). Repression by Ume6 involves recruitment of a complex containing Sin3 corepressor and Rpd3 histone deacetylase to target promoters. Cell *89*, 365-371.

Klug, A., and Schwabe, J. W. (1995). Protein motifs 5. Zinc fingers. Faseb J 9, 597-604.

Koh, S. S., Chen, D., Lee, Y. H., and Stallcup, M. R. (2001). Synergistic enhancement of nuclear receptor function by p160 coactivators and two coactivators with protein methyltransferase activities. J Biol Chem 276, 1089-1098.

Koipally, J., Renold, A., Kim, J., and Georgopoulos, K. (1999). Repression by Ikaros and Aiolos is mediated through histone deacetylase complexes. Embo J *18*, 3090-3100.

Koshland, D., and Strunnikov, A. (1996). Mitotic chromosome condensation. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol *12*, 305-333.

Kuppers, R., and Dalla-Favera, R. (2001). Mechanisms of chromosomal translocations in B cell lymphomas. Oncogene 20, 5580-5594.

Lachner, M., and Jenuwein, T. (2002). The many faces of histone lysine methylation. Curr Opin Cell Biol *14*, 286-298.

Lachner, M., O'Carroll, D., Rea, S., Mechtler, K., and Jenuwein, T. (2001). Methylation of histone H3 lysine 9 creates a binding site for HP1 proteins. Nature *410*, 116-120.

Laherty, C. D., Yang, W. M., Sun, J. M., Davie, J. R., Seto, E., and Eisenman, R. N. (1997). Histone deacetylases associated with the mSin3 corepressor mediate mad transcriptional repression. Cell *89*, 349-356.

Lander, E. S., Linton, L. M., Birren, B., Nusbaum, C., Zody, M. C., Baldwin, J., Devon, K., Dewar, K., Doyle, M., FitzHugh, W., et al. (2001). Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome. Nature 409, 860-921.

Langley, E., Pearson, M., Faretta, M., Bauer, U. M., Frye, R. A., Minucci, S., Pelicci, P. G., and Kouzarides, T. (2002). Human SIR2 deacetylates p53 and antagonizes PML/p53-induced cellular senescence. Embo J *21*, 2383-2396.

Lania, L., Majello, B., and De Luca, P. (1997). Transcriptional regulation by the Sp family proteins. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 29, 1313-1323.

Lechner, M. S., Begg, G. E., Speicher, D. W., and Rauscher, F. J., 3rd (2000). Molecular determinants for targeting heterochromatin protein 1-mediated gene silencing: direct chromoshadow domain-KAP-1 corepressor interaction is essential. Mol Cell Biol 20, 6449-6465.

Lin, B., Chen, G. Q., Xiao, D., Kolluri, S. K., Cao, X., Su, H., and Zhang, X. K. (2000). Orphan receptor COUP-TF is required for induction of retinoic acid receptor beta, growth inhibition, and apoptosis by retinoic acid in cancer cells. Mol Cell Biol *20*, 957-970.

Lin, H., and Grosschedl, R. (1995). Failure of B-cell differentiation in mice lacking the transcription factor EBF. Nature *376*, 263-267.

Lin, R. J., Nagy, L., Inoue, S., Shao, W., Miller, W. H., Jr., and Evans, R. M. (1998). Role of the histone deacetylase complex in acute promyelocytic leukaemia. Nature *391*, 811-814.

Liou, H. C., Sha, W. C., Scott, M. L., and Baltimore, D. (1994). Sequential induction of NF-kappa B/Rel family proteins during B-cell terminal differentiation. Mol Cell Biol *14*, 5349-5359.

Liu, P., Keller, J. R., Ortiz, M., Tessarollo, L., Rachel, R. A., Nakamura, T., Jenkins, N. A., and Copeland, N. G. (2003). Bcl11a is essential for normal lymphoid development. Nat Immunol *4*, 525-532.

Lorenz, P., Koczan, D., and Thiesen, H. J. (2001). Transcriptional repression mediated by the KRAB domain of the human C2H2 zinc finger protein Kox1/ZNF10 does not require histone deacetylation. Biol Chem *382*, 637-644.

Losson, R. (1997). KRAB zinc finger proteins and nuclear receptors: a possible cross-talk. Biol Chem *378*, 579-581.

Luger, K., Mader, A. W., Richmond, R. K., Sargent, D. F., and Richmond, T. J. (1997). Crystal structure of the nucleosome core particle at 2.8 A resolution. Nature *389*, 251-260.

Luo, J., Nikolaev, A. Y., Imai, S., Chen, D., Su, F., Shiloh, A., Guarente, L., and Gu, W. (2001). Negative control of p53 by Sir2alpha promotes cell survival under stress. Cell *107*, 137-148.

Luo, R. X., Postigo, A. A., and Dean, D. C. (1998). Rb interacts with histone deacetylase to repress transcription. Cell *92*, 463-473.

Mackay, J. P., and Crossley, M. (1998). Zinc fingers are sticking together. Trends Biochem Sci 23, 1-4.

Mannervik, M., Nibu, Y., Zhang, H., and Levine, M. (1999). Transcriptional coregulators in development. Science 284, 606-609.

Martin-Subero, J. I., Gesk, S., Harder, L., Sonoki, T., Tucker, P. W., Schlegelberger, B., Grote, W., Novo, F. J., Calasanz, M. J., Hansmann, M. L., et al. (2002). Recurrent involvement of the REL and BCL11A loci in classical Hodgkin lymphoma. Blood 99, 1474-1477.

McBurney, M. W., Yang, X., Jardine, K., Bieman, M., Th'ng, J., and Lemieux, M. (2003). The absence of SIR2alpha protein has no effect on global gene silencing in mouse embryonic stem cells. Mol Cancer Res *1*, 402-409.

McKercher, S. R., Torbett, B. E., Anderson, K. L., Henkel, G. W., Vestal, D. J., Baribault, H., Klemsz, M., Feeney, A. J., Wu, G. E., Paige, C. J., and Maki, R. A. (1996). Targeted disruption of the PU.1 gene results in multiple hematopoietic abnormalities. Embo J *15*, 5647-5658.

Mizzen, C. A., Yang, X. J., Kokubo, T., Brownell, J. E., Bannister, A. J., Owen-Hughes, T., Workman, J., Wang, L., Berger, S. L., Kouzarides, T., *et al.* (1996). The TAF(II)250 subunit of TFIID has histone acetyltransferase activity. Cell *87*, 1261-1270. Motta, C. M., Divecha, N., Lemieux, M., Kamel, C., Chen, D., Gu, W., Bultsma, Y., McBurney, M., Guarente, L. (2004). Mammalian SIRT1 Represses Forkhead Transcription Factors. Cell *116*, 551-563.

Murray, P., and Edgar, D. (2001). Regulation of laminin and COUP-TF expression in extraembryonic endodermal cells. Mech Dev *101*, 213-215.

Nagy, L., Kao, H. Y., Chakravarti, D., Lin, R. J., Hassig, C. A., Ayer, D. E., Schreiber, S. L., and Evans, R. M. (1997). Nuclear receptor repression mediated by a complex containing SMRT, mSin3A, and histone deacetylase. Cell *89*, 373-380.

Nakajima, T., Uchida, C., Anderson, S. F., Parvin, J. D., and Montminy, M. (1997). Analysis of a cAMP-responsive activator reveals a two-component mechanism for transcriptional induction via signal-dependent factors. Genes Dev *11*, 738-747.

Nakamura, T., Yamazaki, Y., Saiki, Y., Moriyama, M., Largaespada, D. A., Jenkins, N. A., and Copeland, N. G. (2000). Evi9 encodes a novel zinc finger protein that physically interacts with BCL6, a known human B-cell proto-oncogene product. Mol Cell Biol *20*, 3178-3186.

Nevrivy, D. J., Peterson, V. J., Avram, D., Ishmael, J. E., Hansen, S. G., Dowell, P., Hruby, D. E., Dawson, M. I., and Leid, M. (2000). Interaction of GRASP, a protein encoded by a novel retinoic acid-induced gene, with members of the cytohesin family of guanine nucleotide exchange factors. J Biol Chem 275, 16827-16836.

Niu, H., Cattoretti, G., and Dalla-Favera, R. (2003). BCL6 controls the expression of the B7-1/CD80 costimulatory receptor in germinal center B cells. J Exp Med *198*, 211-221.

Nutt, S. L., Heavey, B., Rolink, A. G., and Busslinger, M. (1999). Commitment to the B-lymphoid lineage depends on the transcription factor Pax5. Nature *401*, 556-562.

Okuda, T., van Deursen, J., Hiebert, S. W., Grosveld, G., and Downing, J. R. (1996). AML1, the target of multiple chromosomal translocations in human leukemia, is essential for normal fetal liver hematopoiesis. Cell *84*, 321-330.

Orkin, S. H. (2000). Diversification of haematopoietic stem cells to specific lineages. Nat Rev Genet 1, 57-64.

Pereira, F. A., Tsai, M. J., and Tsai, S. Y. (2000). COUP-TF orphan nuclear receptors in development and differentiation. Cell Mol Life Sci *57*, 1388-1398.

Reeves, R., Gorman, C. M., and Howard, B. (1985). Minichromosome assembly of non-integrated plasmid DNA transfected into mammalian cells. Nucleic Acids Res *13*, 3599-3615.

Rohr, O., Lecestre, D., Chasserot-Golaz, S., Marban, C., Avram, D., Aunis, D., Leid, M., and Schaeffer, E. (2003). Recruitment of Tat to heterochromatin protein HP1 via interaction with CTIP2 inhibits human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication in microglial cells. J Virol 77, 5415-5427.

Rolink, A. G., Nutt, S. L., Melchers, F., and Busslinger, M. (1999). Long-term in vivo reconstitution of T-cell development by Pax5-deficient B-cell progenitors. Nature *401*, 603-606.

Roopra, A., Sharling, L., Wood, I. C., Briggs, T., Bachfischer, U., Paquette, A. J., and Buckley, N. J. (2000). Transcriptional repression by neuron-restrictive silencer factor is mediated via the Sin3-histone deacetylase complex. Mol Cell Biol *20*, 2147-2157.

Roth, S. Y., Denu, J. M., and Allis, C. D. (2001). Histone acetyltransferases. Annu Rev Biochem 70, 81-120.

Ryan, R. F., Schultz, D. C., Ayyanathan, K., Singh, P. B., Friedman, J. R., Fredericks, W. J., and Rauscher, F. J., 3rd (1999). KAP-1 corepressor protein interacts and colocalizes with heterochromatic and euchromatic HP1 proteins: a potential role for Kruppel-associated box-zinc finger proteins in heterochromatin-mediated gene silencing. Mol Cell Biol *19*, 4366-4378.

Saiki, Y., Yamazaki, Y., Yoshida, M., Katoh, O., and Nakamura, T. (2000). Human EVI9, a homologue of the mouse myeloid leukemia gene, is expressed in the hematopoietic progenitors and down-regulated during myeloid differentiation of HL60 cells. Genomics *70*, 387-391.

Santos-Rosa, H., Schneider, R., Bannister, A. J., Sherriff, J., Bernstein, B. E., Emre, N. C., Schreiber, S. L., Mellor, J., and Kouzarides, T. (2002). Active genes are tri-methylated at K4 of histone H3. Nature *419*, 407-411.

Satterwhite, E., Sonoki, T., Willis, T. G., Harder, L., Nowak, R., Arriola, E. L., Liu, H., Price, H. P., Gesk, S., Steinemann, D., *et al.* (2001). The BCL11 gene family: involvement of BCL11A in lymphoid malignancies. Blood *98*, 3413-3420.

Schebesta, M., Heavey, B., and Busslinger, M. (2002). Transcriptional control of B-cell development. Curr Opin Immunol *14*, 216-223.

Schoenherr, C. J., and Anderson, D. J. (1995). Silencing is golden: negative regulation in the control of neuronal gene transcription. Curr Opin Neurobiol *5*, 566-571.

Schultz, D. C., Friedman, J. R., and Rauscher, F. J., 3rd (2001). Targeting histone deacetylase complexes via KRAB-zinc finger proteins: the PHD and bromodomains of KAP-1 form a cooperative unit that recruits a novel isoform of the Mi-2alpha subunit of NuRD. Genes Dev *15*, 428-443.

Schumacher, C., Wang, H., Honer, C., Ding, W., Koehn, J., Lawrence, Q., Coulis, C. M., Wang, L. L., Ballinger, D., Bowen, B. R., and Wagner, S. (2000). The SCAN domain mediates selective oligomerization. J Biol Chem 275, 17173-17179.

Scott, E. W., Simon, M. C., Anastasi, J., and Singh, H. (1994). Requirement of transcription factor PU.1 in the development of multiple hematopoietic lineages. Science 265, 1573-1577.

Senawong, T., Peterson, V. J., Avram, D., Shepherd, D. M., Frye, R. A., Minucci, S., and Leid, M. (2003). Involvement of the histone deacetylase SIRT1 in chicken ovalbumin upstream promoter transcription factor (COUP-TF)-interacting protein 2-mediated transcriptional repression. J Biol Chem 278, 43041-43050.

Shastry, B. S. (1996). Transcription factor IIIA (TFIIIA) in the second decade. J Cell Sci 109 (Pt 3), 535-539.

Smith, C. L., and Hager, G. L. (1997). Transcriptional regulation of mammalian genes in vivo. A tale of two templates. J Biol Chem 272, 27493-27496.

Spencer, T. E., Jenster, G., Burcin, M. M., Allis, C. D., Zhou, J., Mizzen, C. A., McKenna, N. J., Onate, S. A., Tsai, S. Y., Tsai, M. J., and O'Malley, B. W. (1997). Steroid receptor coactivator-1 is a histone acetyltransferase. Nature *389*, 194-198.

Strahl, B. D., and Allis, C. D. (2000). The language of covalent histone modifications. Nature 403, 41-45.

Struhl, K. (1998). Histone acetylation and transcriptional regulatory mechanisms. Genes Dev *12*, 599-606.

Takata, T., and Ishikawa, F. (2003). Human Sir2-related protein SIRT1 associates with the bHLH repressors HES1 and HEY2 and is involved in HES1- and HEY2-mediated transcriptional repression. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *301*, 250-257.

Ting, C. N., Olson, M. C., Barton, K. P., and Leiden, J. M. (1996). Transcription factor GATA-3 is required for development of the T-cell lineage. Nature *384*, 474-478.

Tsai, S. Y., and Tsai, M. J. (1997). Chick ovalbumin upstream promotertranscription factors (COUP-TFs): coming of age. Endocr Rev *18*, 229-240.

Tumang, J. R., Owyang, A., Andjelic, S., Jin, Z., Hardy, R. R., Liou, M. L., and Liou, H. C. (1998). c-Rel is essential for B lymphocyte survival and cell cycle progression. Eur J Immunol *28*, 4299-4312.

Tupler, R., Perini, G., and Green, M. R. (2001). Expressing the human genome. Nature *409*, 832-833.

Urbanek, P., Wang, Z. Q., Fetka, I., Wagner, E. F., and Busslinger, M. (1994). Complete block of early B cell differentiation and altered patterning of the posterior midbrain in mice lacking Pax5/BSAP. Cell 79, 901-912.

Vassallo, M. F., and Tanese, N. (2002). Isoform-specific interaction of HP1 with human TAFII130. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99, 5919-5924.

Vaziri, H., Dessain, S. K., Ng Eaton, E., Imai, S. I., Frye, R. A., Pandita, T. K., Guarente, L., and Weinberg, R. A. (2001). hSIR2(SIRT1) functions as an NAD-dependent p53 deacetylase. Cell *107*, 149-159.

Verreault, A. (2000). De novo nucleosome assembly: new pieces in an old puzzle. Genes Dev *14*, 1430-1438.

Wade, P. A. (2001). Transcriptional control at regulatory checkpoints by histone deacetylases: molecular connections between cancer and chromatin. Hum Mol Genet *10*, 693-698.

Wakabayashi, Y., Inoue, J., Takahashi, Y., Matsuki, A., Kosugi-Okano, H., Shinbo, T., Mishima, Y., Niwa, O., and Kominami, R. (2003a). Homozygous deletions and point mutations of the Rit1/Bcl11b gene in gamma-ray induced mouse thymic lymphomas. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *301*, 598-603.

Wakabayashi, Y., Watanabe, H., Inoue, J., Takeda, N., Sakata, J., Mishima, Y., Hitomi, J., Yamamoto, T., Utsuyama, M., Niwa, O., et al. (2003b).

Bcl11b is required for differentiation and survival of alphabeta T lymphocytes. Nat Immunol 4, 533-539.

Wang, H., Huang, Z. Q., Xia, L., Feng, Q., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Strahl, B. D., Briggs, S. D., Allis, C. D., Wong, J., Tempst, P., and Zhang, Y. (2001). Methylation of histone H4 at arginine 3 facilitating transcriptional activation by nuclear hormone receptor. Science 293, 853-857.

Williams, A. J., Khachigian, L. M., Shows, T., and Collins, T. (1995). Isolation and characterization of a novel zinc-finger protein with transcription repressor activity. J Biol Chem 270, 22143-22152.

Wolfe, S. A., Nekludova, L., and Pabo, C. O. (2000). DNA recognition by Cys2His2 zinc finger proteins. Annu Rev Biophys Biomol Struct *29*, 183-212.

Yang, W. M., Inouye, C., Zeng, Y., Bearss, D., and Seto, E. (1996a). Transcriptional repression by YY1 is mediated by interaction with a mammalian homolog of the yeast global regulator RPD3. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93, 12845-12850.

Yang, X. J., Ogryzko, V. V., Nishikawa, J., Howard, B. H., and Nakatani, Y. (1996b). A p300/CBP-associated factor that competes with the adenoviral oncoprotein E1A. Nature *382*, 319-324.

Zhang, Y. (2003). Transcriptional regulation by histone ubiquitination and deubiquitination. Genes Dev *17*, 2733-2740.

Zhang, Y., and Reinberg, D. (2001). Transcription regulation by histone methylation: interplay between different covalent modifications of the core histone tails. Genes Dev *15*, 2343-2360.

Zhou, X., Marks, P. A., Rifkind, R. A., and Richon, V. M. (2001). Cloning and characterization of a histone deacetylase, HDAC9. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98, 10572-10577.

Zhuang, Y., Soriano, P., and Weintraub, H. (1994). The helix-loop-helix gene E2A is required for B cell formation. Cell *79*, 875-884.